

UNIVERSITY OF KWAZULU – NATAL

"PAY NOW, ARGUE LATER RULE IN THE

SOUTH AFRICAN TAX LAW – A CRITICAL ANALYSIS"

BY

JAPPIE BENJAMIN THABO CHAKA

922409622

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements

for the degree LLM in Business Law (Coursework)

Faculty of Law

Supervisor: Prof. RC Williams

SEPTEMBER 2015

School of Law

Postal Address: Private Bag X01, Scottsville, 3209 South Africa Telephone: +27 (0) 33 260 6257



Supervisor's permission to submit dissertation for

examination

Date	: September 2015	
Student's Surname & Initials	: Chaka JBT	
Student no.	: 922409622	

Dissertation title:

"Pay now, argue later rule in the South African Tax Law - a critical analysis."

As the candidate's supervisor, I agree to the submission of this dissertation for examination. To the best of my knowledge, the dissertation is primarily the student's work and the student has acknowledged all reference sources.

The above student has also satisfied the English language competency requirements.

Name of supervisor : Prof. RC Williams

Signature :

Date :

DECLARATION

I, Jappie Benjamin Thabo Chaka, declare that:

(i) The research reported in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated, is my

original research.

(ii) This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other

university.

(iii) This dissertation does not contain any other person's data, pictures, graphs or other

information, unl ess s pecifically a cknowledged a s be ing s ourced f rom ot her

persons.

(iv) This dissertation does not contain any other person's writing, unless specifically

acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written

sources have been quoted, then:

(a) The ex act w ords ha ve been used; the w riting has be en pl aced in quot ation

marks and referenced.

(b) The words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them

has been referenced.

(v) This dissertation does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from

the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the

dissertation and in the reference section.

Signature :

Date :

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my indebtedness to G od A lmighty for the gift of life and to the following people without whom this work of art would not have been realized:

- My supervisor, Prof. RC Williams, for his guidance, punctilious patience, impeccable experience, unparalleled wisdom, encouragement and professional advice.
- Ms. Carika Keulder, a Mercantile Law Lecturer at the University of Pretoria, for her invaluable inputs.
- Dr. M A M dletye, f or h is c onstructive c riticisms a nd c ontribution t o t he r esearch objectives and questions part of the study.
- Dr. A. Majavu, for her technical assistance and being an inspiration to me.
- Mr. Jean Kanamugire, a Law Lecturer at the North West University's Mafikeng campus, for sowing the seeds of this study in me.
- Mr. Sandile Eric Chamane, my brother in Christ and work colleague.
- The C haka f amily, pa rticularly, m y m other B otsang E thel B eauty, m y l ate grandparents, Ramoluane and MaLetlatsa, my father Sam, my brother George and his family, my aunts, Malekganya, Rosemary and Maggie.
- My beloved children Britta, Lebo and Tshiamo for igniting my soul.
- Ms. Thembi Chaka for her encouragement & support.
- Mr. TK Nkutha for his angelic deeds.
- Ms. Nobuhle Mbambo for having spurred me on.
- To all those teachers, academics and practitioners past and present who moulded me and from whose fountain of wisdom and wealth of experience I have been generously privileged to quench my insatiable thirst for knowledge most notably, <u>Mes</u>. Radebe; Nhlapho; N tohla; K gosi; N dumo & Mpeko. <u>Messrs.</u> Motloung; Ramotshehoa; Phatsoane; Makate, Mogoetsi; Moloi; Mahlaku, Mahlatsi, Nkgatho, Thoabala, Staat, Mthethwa, Nkabinde, Jan Van Der Leeuw & Bede Harris.

Professors: KJK Kemp; MG Erasmus; CRM Dlamini; ES Mchunu; Lund; Burchell; Lupton; Tony M atthews; P amela S chwikkard; C ora H oexter; J RL Milton; R D Sharrock; M Cowling and B Grant.

<u>Kwazulu - Natal High Court Judges</u>: Herbert Q ed'usizi M simang a nd J erome Bhekisisa Mnguni.

• To all those who may have been inadvertently omitted.

IN MEMORIAM

This work is dedicated to my beloved brother Duke Elijah Tumelo Chaka.

Ke Koloti e tona se etella dinone pele... Robala ka kgotso Phoka, Lekakuba!!!

"The soul is a veiled light. Neglect it, it will dim and die. Fuel it with the sacred oil of love and it will burn with an immortal flame".

ABSTRACT

The adoption of the Constitution by the Constitutional Assembly in 1996 he ralded an era of hope for South Africa. An era devoid of repression and discord, where, the Constitution and not Parliament, reigns supreme. Concomitantly, South African nationals - taxpayers alike - were conferred with constitutional rights and the Constitutional Court (CC) be came a vanguard of these rights.

The court in *Metcash Trading Ltd v CSARS* (*Metcash1*) was called upon to make a determination on the constitutionality of sections 36, 40(2) (a) and 40(5) of the VAT Act. Snyders J declared the aforementioned sections of the VAT Act unconstitutional and referred the matter to the CC for confirmation. The referral was, in the circumstances, necessary and in sync with the provisions of the Constitution. A glimmer of hope for taxpayers attributable to the decision of the court in *Metcash1*, was dashed by a unanimous decision of the CC in *Metcash* where the contentious sections of the VAT Act were declared constitutionally sound and the decision of the court a quo was quashed.

Metcash bears testimony to the fact that South Africa is indeed a constitutional state.

Metcash was decided within the context of the VAT Act and since income tax is different from VAT, there's widespread speculation concerning what the court's decision would be when called upon to make a determination on the constitutionality of the "pay now, argue later" rule within the income tax - context. While noble criticisms have been levelled against Metcash and by extension to the "pay now, argue later" rule, the reality is, unless Metcash is set aside or the legislature intervenes, the "pay now argue later" rule (the rule) is here to stay.

The thrust of the research was to establish whether the rule strikes a balance between two inextricably linked and competing interests, to wit, SARS's paramount duty to efficiently and speedily collect and administer tax on the one hand, and taxpayers' constitutional rights on the other.

Taxation constitutes the lifeblood of governments and South Africa is no exception. Since no constitutional s tate c an exist w ithout t ax a nd e qually no o rganized s ociety can function without tax, it is important for governments to ensure that the tax levied on their respective nationals is c ommensurate w ith the income generated by a taxpayer during a given tax period.

Justification for the rule lies in the fact that:

- > the rule obtains in open and democratic societies;
- ➤ the legislative enactment that forms the substratum of the rule has general application in South Africa.

Contrary to criticisms, there is overwhelming evidence to the effect that the rule does not vitiate taxpayers' constitutional rights and that many - a - disgruntled - taxpayer whose rights have be en materially and a dversely affected by the Commissioner's actions or omissions pursuant to SARS's aforementioned duty - have a myriad of remedies at their disposal; inter alia; Constitutional, PAJA and other remedies. The only disadvantage being that, since such remedies are primarily litigation - based, they are costly and time - consuming.

More cost-effective remedies for taxpayers such as the establishment of the Hugh Corder – type of a dministrative tribunals and the Australian 'merits system' are recommended. The heightening of public awareness concerning the fiscal complaints related - services that the Public Protector and the Human Rights Commission render to dissatisfied taxpayers is also recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Supervisor's permission to submit dissertation for examination	i
DECLARATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
IN MEMORIAM	iv
ABSTRACT	v
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Definition of terms	1
1.3 Effective date of the law that constitutes the basis of the research	3
1.4 The origin of the "pay now, argue later" rule	3
1.4.1 Background	3
1.4.2 An outline of the research problem	
1.5 Motivation for the study	8
1.6 Research Objectives and Questions	9
1.6.1 Research objectives	
1.6.2 Research questions	
1.7 Ethical considerations	9
1.8 Resources	10
1.9 Limitations of the research	10
1.10 Research Methodology	10

CHAPTER 2: POWERS OF THE COMMISSIONER	11
2.1 Powers of the Commissioner	11
2.1.1 The Statement Procedure	12
2.1.1.1 Notice of assessment	
2.1.1.2 Onus of proof	
2.1.1.3 Objection to a disputed assessment	
2.1.1.4 Filing of a statement at court	
2.1.2 The Appointment of a third party as a taxpayer's agent	21
2.1.3 The "Pay Now, Argue Later" rule	30
2.1.3.1 Criticisms - Metcash	
2.1.3.1.1 Criticisms by Keulder	
2.1.3.1.2 Criticisms by Williams	
2.1.3.1.3 Criticisms by Rood	
2.1.3.1.4 Criticisms by Olivier	
2.2 Taxpayers' Remedies	44
(a) lodging an objection	
(b) noting an appeal against a disputed assessment	
(c) making an application for the suspension of payment pending an	
objection or appeal or decision of a court	
(d) making an application for the review of the Commissioner's	
decision	
(e) making an application to directly access the Constitutional Court	

CHAPTER 3: REVIEW OF THE RELEVANT STATUTORY	46
PROVISIONS	
3.1 Introduction	46
3.1.1 A case for Constitutional and PAJA Remedies	
3.2 Constitutional Remedies	49
3.2.1 Purpose	
3.2.2 Direct access to the Constitutional Court	
3.2.3 List of constitutional remedies	
3.3 PAJA Remedies	53
3.3.1 Just administrative action	
3.3.2 Judicial review of 'administrative action'	
3.3.3 Exhaustion of internal remedies	
3.3.4 Grounds of review	
3.3.5 Formalities	
3.3.6 Reasons for administrative action	
4. Other Remedies	56
4.1 Doctrine of legitimate expectation	
4.2 SARS Service Charter	
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION	57
4.1 Conclusion	
4.2 Recommendations	

REFERENCES	60
Books	60
Periodical Articles	62
Dissertations & Theses	65
Case Law	66
Legislation	75
Rules & Regulations	76
Websites	77
SARS Publications and Manuals	80
List of abbreviations and acronyms	81

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 INTRODUCTION

"Render therefore to Caesar the things that are Caesar's, and to God the things that are God's." ¹

The above Biblical text bears testimony to the fact that the levying of taxes by governments on their nationals has been extant for time immemorial. In support of this fact, Croome states that:

"[d]uring the reign of the Pharaohs, [n]ilometers were used for purposes of measuring the rise and fall level of the Nile River to determine the rate of tax payable. [A] Stela was used during the reign of Amenemhet III of the Middle Kingdom (1831 BCE) to mark the level of the Nile. [T]axes were levied according to the height of the inundation and the amount of land that would be watered and fertilised by it"².

Modern day governments, a rmed with r elevant and a pplicable fiscal legislation, us et ax returns and assessments by fiscal authorities to determine the quantum of tax payable. It is important for governments to ensure that the tax levied is commensurate with the income generated by a taxpayer during a given tax period.

Governments use tax as a tool, inter alia, to:

"fund the services they deliver³, improve economic growth, regulate levels of employment and budget deficit⁴ and to enable it to meet its constitutional obligations"⁵.

1.2 DEFINITION OF TERMS

"income" means the amount remaining of the gross income of any person for any year or period of assessment after deducting therefrom any amounts exempt from normal tax under Part I of Chapter II.

"assessment" means the determination of the amount of tax liability or refund, by way of self-assessment by the taxpayer or assessment by SARS.

¹Holy Bible, New King James Version (NKJV): Matthew 22:21.

²Croome, BJ. Taxpayers' Rights in South Africa. Claremont: Juta, (2006), 1. (Croome).

Croome, B.J. & Olivier, L. Tax Administration. Claremont: Juta, (2010), 1. (Croome & Olivier).

³Croome, 1.

⁴Ibid, 3.

⁵Croome & Olivier, 1.

⁶S1 of the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962 (ITA).

⁷Chapter 1 of the Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011 (TAA).

"Commissioner" means t he C ommissioner f or t he S outh A frican R evenue S ervice appointed in terms of section 6 of the SARS Act or the Acting Commissioner designated in terms of section 7 of that Act.

"Constitution" means The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996.

"stare decisis" ¹⁰ means that one stands by existing decisions and does not disturb settled legal questions.

"judicial review"¹¹ is the procedure whereby the court i dentifies and cures i llegalities committed by the public official concerned. Its purpose is to ensure that the requirements of legality are met and that the aggrieved person is afforded a remedy for breach of legality.

"return" ¹² means a form, declaration, document or other manner of submitting information to SARS that incorporates a self-assessment or is [the] a basis on which an assessment is to be made by SARS.

"SARS" ¹³ means the South African Revenue Service established under section 2 of the South African Revenue Service Act 34 of 1997.

"SARS Act" ¹⁴ means the South African Revenue Service Act 34 of 1997.

"tax", for purposes of administration under this Act, includes a tax, duty, levy, royalty, fee, contribution, penalty, interest and any other moneys imposed under a tax Act.

"tax debt" ¹⁶ means an amount of tax due by a person in terms of a tax Act referred to in section 169(1).

"taxpayer", 17 means-

(a) a person chargeable to tax;

⁸Ibid.

⁹S1 (ii) of the Promotion of Justice Act 3 of 2000 (PAJA). An Explanatory Memorandum to the Constitution.

¹⁰Ngcukaitobi, T. Precedent, Separation of Powers and the Constitutional Court. 2012 Acta Juridica, 148 (Ngcukaitobi). Ex parte Minister for Safety and Security & Others In re: S v Walters and Another 2002 (4) SA 613 (CC) para 57. Gcaba v Minister for Safety & Security & Others 2010 (1) SA 238 (CC).

¹¹Dlamini, CRM. The Administrative Law of a Typical South African University. (LLD Thesis, UWC, 1994), 52-53 and 139.

¹²S30 (c) of the Tax Administration Laws Amendment Act 39 of 2013 (TALAA).

¹³S2 of the SARS Act.

¹⁴Ibid.

¹⁵Ibid. The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Current English. Oxford: Oxford University Press, (1992). Blackshield, T. & Williams, G. Australian Constitutional Law and Theory – Commentary and Materials, 3ed. The Federation Press, (2002). Nyambirai v National Social Security Authority & Another 1996 (1) SA 636 (ZSC), 643 C-D. Croome, 2.

¹⁶S30 (d) of the TALAA.

¹⁷S151 of the TAA.

- (b) a representative taxpayer;
- (c) a withholding agent;
- (d) a responsible third party; or
- (e) a person who is the subject of a request to provide assistance under an international tax agreement.

"outstanding tax debt". means a tax debt not paid by the day referred to in section 162.
"VAT Act" means the Value – Added Tax Act 89 of 1991 (VAT Act).

"vendor", 20 is a person who is, or is required to be, registered for VAT purposes.

1.3 EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE LAW THAT CONSTITUTES THE BASIS OF

THE RESEARCH

This study entails a restatement or an exposition of the law as at 16 July 2014 being the effective date of the Tax Administration Laws Amendment Act 39 of 2013 (TALAA) read with the Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011 (TAA).

1.4 THE ORIGIN OF THE "PAY NOW, ARGUE LATER" RULE

The "pay now, a rgue later" rule (the rule) is no ne womer to the South A frican Tax Law arena. Its origin can be traced back to the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962 (ITA) and the Customs and Excise Act 91 of 1964 (CEA)²¹.

The taxpayer's obligation to pay tax is not suspended by an objection or appeal or pending a decision by a court of law – hence the term "pay now, argue later".

Kriegler J in Metcash Trading Ltd v Commissioner for the South African Revenue Service (CSARS) & Another (Metcash) succinctly paraphrased the rule, as follows:

"In substance, section 36(1) of the Act says that upon assessment by the Commissioner, and notwithstanding the noting of an 'appeal', a taxpayer is obliged to pay the assessed tax, called value – added tax plus consequential imposts there and then,..."²²

The rationale behind the rule is that the South African government needs revenue to finance its expenditure.

¹⁸S30 (a) of the TALAA.

¹⁹S1 of the VAT Act.

²⁰Ibid.

²¹S9 (1) (b) of the ITA and s 114(1) (a) (ii) of the CEA. S36 of the VAT Act and s 164 of the TAA read with s 58 of the TALAA.

²²2001 1 BCLR 1 (CC), para 1.

In similar vein, Croome and Olivier postulate the view that:

"[n]o constitutional government can exist without tax".23.

Prior to 1994, South Africa was a parliamentary state where parliament reigned supreme. Provision for this was contained in the Republic of South Africa Constitution Act 110 of 1983 wherein it is stated that:

"No court of law shall be competent to enquire into or pronounce upon the validity of an Act of Parliament."²⁴

A taxpayer could not therefore challenge the fiscal authority in a court of law on the basis that the former, in the exercise of its powers, violated his rights. The enactment of the Interim Constitution²⁵ and t he s ubsequent a doption by the C onstitutional A ssembly of t he Constitution²⁶, led to the transformation of the Republic of South Africa from a 'parliamentary state' to a 'democratic state'.

The aforementioned unprecedented transformation of South Africa into a constitutional state, ushered an era for taxpayers to challenge any fiscal legislation which *prima facie* violated their procedural and substantive rights.

The Constitutional C ourt's landmark de cision in *Metcash* where the C onstitutional C ourt (CC) was called upon to make a determination on the constitutionality of the rule bears testimony to South Africa being a true constitutional state.

1.4.1 BACKGROUND

SARS's paramount duty is to 'administer and collect tax in South Africa'. To enable SARS to discharge the above-mentioned duty, the legislature conferred SARS with powers to effect "the efficient and speedy collection of taxes" 29.

²³Croome & Olivier, 3.

²⁴S34 (3) of the Republic of South Africa Constitution Act 110 of 1983.

²⁵Interim Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 200 of 1993.

²⁶Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996.

²⁷Croome & Olivier, 2.

²⁸Sections 3 & 4 of the SARS Act.

²⁹Muller, EA. Framework for Wealth Transfer Taxation in South Africa. (LLD thesis, UP 2010), 63 (Muller).

Croome & Olivier crystallize this fact further in the following terms:

"South Africa now has one office, the Commissioner, responsible for the administration of all fiscal statutes in the country." ³⁰

The Commissioner plays a pivotal role in the discharge of SARS's aforementioned duty by, inter alia, issuing an assessment to a taxpayer for a period of assessment under consideration.

The court in *First National Bank of SA Ltd t/a Wesbank v CSARS (FNB)* held that SARS is subject to the Constitution in the following terms:

"no matter how indispensable fiscal authority provisions were for the well-being of the country, they were not immune to the discipline of the Constitution and had to conform to normative standards." ³¹

This decision reaffirms the fact that the Commissioner must, in the performance of his duties, uphold the values and principles contained in the Constitution. The following are some of the basic values and principles:

- > promotion and maintenance of a high standard of professionalism;
- > promotion of the efficient, economic and effective use of resources;
- prompt response to public needs;
- > encouragement of public participation in policy making;
- accountability and
- > transparency...³²

The Citation of Constitutional Laws Act, 2005(hereafter CCLA) states that:

"no act number must be associated with the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa as this act was not passed by Parliament, but was adopted by the Constitutional Assembly." 33

1.4.2 AN OUTLINE OF THE RESEARCH PROBLEM

The obligation to pay tax arises when an assessment has been issued. If dissatisfied with an assessment, a taxpayer may lodge an objection with the Commissioner and later an appeal if the objection is disallowed. The taxpayer's obligation to pay tax and the corresponding

5

³⁰Croome & Olivier, 9.

³¹2002 (7) JTLR 250, 252.

³²S195 (1) of the Constitution.

³³S1 of the CCLA.

SARS's paramount duty to collect and administer tax is not suspended by an objection or appeal pending a decision by a court of law.

Relying on this provision dubbed the rule, the Commissioner is entitled to initiate proceedings for the recovery of a tax debt by filing a statement with the clerk or registrar of a competent court. Such a statement has the effect of a civil judgment for a liquid debt and is enforceable against a taxpayer.

Justification for the rule lies in the following:

Firstly, *taxation is the lifeblood of governments*. Conradie J in *FNB* held that:

"... [f]reedom from taxation is not a fundamental right. Not even death."³⁴

Support for this view is also made by Henkin, L in the following terms:

"In a literal sense, taxation is, of course, a confiscation of property; equally clearly no organized society can function without it." ³⁵

Croome postulates the view that:

"[w]hile taxpayers' rights may not be unnecessarily limited the government of the day needs funds to meet specified social objectives imposed on it by the Constitution.³⁶"

Secondly, a due adjustment must be made and amounts paid in excess refunded with interest at the prescribed rate if the taxpayer's a ppeal application is successful following the disallowance by the Commissioner of a taxpayer's objection to a disputed assessment.³⁷

Thirdly, <u>as long as the enabling fiscal legislation satisfies the following prerequisites</u>, the implementation of the rule by fiscal authorities is appropriate:

- the applicable fiscal legislation must have general application in South Africa;
- > the implementation of the applicable fiscal legislation must be in the public interest;
- ➤ the implementation of the applicable fiscal legislation must be reasonable and justifiable in an open and democratic society³⁸.

³⁴FNB 2002 (4) SA 768 (CC) para 27.

³⁵Henkin, L. & Rosenthal, AJ. Constitutionalism and Rights – The Influence of the United States Constitution Abroad: Ch5, 125. Columbia University Press, (1999).

³⁶Croome, 10.

³⁷S36 (1) of the VAT Act.

³⁸S36 of the Constitution.

Taxpayers are held bent on paying the least amount of tax while fiscal authorities on the other hand a re f ocused on 1 evying t he m aximum t ax a gainst t axpayers i n or der t o r ealize government's constitutional, economic and socio - economic objectives.

In confirmation of this fact, Croome states that:

"taxpayers are invariably in an unequal relationship with the fisc in that it compels them to contribute to the state's coffers. They are not willing participants in the tax system."39

The inequality of the relationship between SARS and taxpayers is attributed to the rule. This relationship of inequality creates tension between taxpayers and fiscal authorities.

Croome makes the following suggestion in relation to harnessing such tension which *prima facie*, poses a potential threat to the South African economy:

"It is thus essential that tax collection be properly administered to ensure that taxpayers comply with the law and meet their obligations. At the same time, the revenue authority should not exceed its powers."40

In t he e yes of t axpayers, t he rule constitutes a n unj ustifiable e ncroachment on "their procedural and substantive rights such as:

Procedural rights

- right of access to information;
- right to just administrative action and
- right of access to courts. 41

Substantive rights

- right to property;
- right to equality and
- right to privacy.

These rights are entrenched in the Bill of Rights."42

The right of a ccess to information and substantive rights fall out side the scope of this research

³⁹Croome, 14.

⁴⁰Croome, 10.

⁴¹Sections 32, 33 & 34 of the Constitution.

⁴²Chapter 2. The Constitution. Croome, 17 to 265. Croome & Olivier, 21.

The rule is at the core of the tension between taxpayers and revenue authorities. The rule has, since its inception, to date, been the subject of litigation and disputes in the South A frican Tax Law arena notwithstanding *Metcash*.

Since *Metcash* is a decision of the CC, it is, on the strength of the "*stare decisis*," binding on all courts unless it can be shown that the court has erred. 44

The court found the rule to be in conformity with the provisions of the Constitution that were in contention.

1.5 MOTIVATION FOR THE STUDY

There is overwhelming authority in support of a long established principle in South African Tax Law that:

"[n]o liability for tax arises if there has been no receipt or accrual by the taxpayer." 45

This principle presupposes the generation of income by a taxpayer during the period of assessment under consideration. Generally, tax collection and administration is a convoluted and complex process that has indiscriminate global application.

Einstein made a similar observation in the following terms:

"The hardest thing in the world to understand is the income tax." 46

The C ommissioner has be en c onferred with wide powers under different f iscals tatutes pursuant to SARS's paramount duty. One of these powers is the rule.

Severe criticisms have been levelled against the rule. The major criticism is that the rule violates the taxpayers' above — mentioned constitutional rights. In or der to a chieve its constitutional and economic objectives and to maintain its competitiveness in the global economy and for its sustenance, it is imperative for the South African government to levy taxes on its nationals.

8

⁴³Hahlo, HR. and Kahn, E. The South African Legal System and its Background. Johannesburg: Juta, (1973), 213. Ngcukaitobi, 148. Ex parte Minister for Safety and Security & Others In re: S v Walters and Another 2002 (4) SA 613 (CC) para 57.

⁴⁴Certification of the Amended Text of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa 1997 (2) SA 97 (CC).

⁴⁵Williams, RC. Income Tax in South Africa: Law and Practice, 4ed.Durban: Lexis Nexis Butterworths, (2006), 64 (Williams).

⁴⁶Ibid, preface of Williams.

The focus of this study will be to determine whether the rule strikes a balance between the two inextricably i nterwoven and c ompeting i nterests, to wit, SARS's paramount duty to administer and collect tax and the protection of taxpayers' procedural and substantive rights in the event of a disputed assessment.

1.6 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES AND QUESTIONS

1.6.1 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the study are to:

- > ascertain whether the Constitution provides a dequate protection to taxpayers' rights vis-à-vis the rule;
- > ascertain the powers afforded to SARS to collect and administer taxes;
- > ascertain whether the rule strikes a ballance between SARS's paramount duty and taxpayers' constitutional rights.

1.6.2 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The study will attempt to answer the following questions:

- ➤ Does the Constitution provide protection to taxpayers' rights vis-à-vis the rule?
- ➤ What i s t he e xtent of t he pow ers t hat ha ve be en c onferred t o t he C ommissioner pursuant to SARS's paramount duty?
- ➤ Does the imposition of tax by the state on t axpayers within the context of the rule constitute a violation of taxpayers' constitutional rights?
- ➤ What are the prospects of success for a taxpayer who challenges the constitutional validity of SARS's powers?
- ➤ Does the rule strike a balance b etween SARS's paramount dut y and t axpayers' constitutional rights?

1.7 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

There are no ethical considerations. Having read the University's Research Ethics Policy I declare that to the best of my knowledge:

- > the research does not fall into any category that requires special ethical obligations;
- > the research does not create any conflict of interest either real or perceived.

1.8 RESOURCES

The resources available are sufficient and no additional resources are required for purposes of the research.

1.9 LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH

No limitations to the research are envisaged.

1.10 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The research is desk-top based. It will encompass a review and a critical analysis of journal articles, case law, published material and relevant statutes.

CHAPTER 2

POWERS OF THE COMMISSIONER

2.1 POWERS OF THE COMMISSIONER

The court in *FNB*⁴⁷ held that SARS is subject to the Constitution. This therefore means that the Commissioner *must*, in the performance of his duties, exercise his powers within the bounds of the law and the Constitution⁴⁸. Pursuant to SARS's paramount duty, the legislature has, inter alia, conferred the Commissioner with the below mentioned powers:

- > the statement procedure, 49
- > the appointment of a third party as a taxpayer's agent, 50
- > the "pay now, argue later" rule, 51
- > the search and seizure procedure, 52
- ➤ the sequestration, liquidation and winding up procedure. ⁵³

A discussion of the search and seizure procedure, the sequestration, liquidation, and winding up procedure lies beyond the scope of this research.

To appreciate the import of these intrinsically linked powers, it is necessary to allude to what the court stated in *CSARS v Hawker Air Services (Pty) Ltd; In re: CSARS v Hawker Aviation Services Partnership & Others (Hawker)* regarding the exercise of a public power by a public authority:

"The Commissioner is indeed endowed with tremendous powers to collect taxes in the national interests, however, that power must be exercised within the bounds of the law and constitutional imperatives...[I]t is for the courts to maintain a modicum of fairness and justice in curbing the excesses of arbitrary use of public power." ⁵⁴

The Commissioner's exercise of powers conferred on him by a fiscal statute constitutes an administrative action⁵⁵ which is reviewable under the provisions of the PAJA⁵⁶. The t erm

⁴⁷2002 (7) JTLR 250,252.

⁴⁸S3 (1) of the ITA.

⁴⁹S91(1) (b) of the ITA & s 40(2)(a) of the VAT Act & s172 (1) of the TAA read with s 62(1) & (2) of the TALAA. Metcash Trading Ltd v CSARS 2000 (2) SA 232 (W), 242 (Metcash 1).

⁵⁰S99 of the ITA; s47 of the VAT Act and s 179(1) of the TAA read with s66 (1) of the TALAA.

⁵¹S88 (1) (a) and (b) of the ITA; s36 (1) of the VAT Act and s164 (1) (a) & (b) of the TAA.

⁵²S74D (1) (a) to (c) of the ITA and s 59(1) of the TAA.

⁵³S65 (1) of the TALAA; s 40(2) (c) of the VAT Act and s 91(1) (c) of the ITA.

⁵⁴[2005] 1 All SA 715 (T), para [75].

⁵⁵S33 of the Constitution. Capstone 556 (Pty) Ltd v CSARS & Another 2011 ZAWCHC 297 (Capstone).

⁵⁶S6 of PAJA.

'administrative a ction' is de fined in PAJA.⁵⁷ In *Hawker*, the Commissioner had i ssued an assessment to the respondents a gainst whom three writs of execution were later i ssued in favour of the C ommissioner after the successful institution of an action against the respondents.

The C ommissioner then filed ur gent liquidation and s equestration applications against the respondents on the basis that they were unable to or should be deemed to be unable to satisfy a tax debt in terms of the Companies Act. 58

The issues for determination by the court were, inter alia:

- > whether the two applications were urgent;
- whether the applications were brought for an ulterior purpose and
- whether the judgment obtained in terms of section 40(2) (a) of the VAT A ct was valid.

The court dismissed the two applications with costs on these terms:

"I am not persuaded that the applicant has made out a convincing case for urgency..." "59

Hawker ⁶⁰ is a classical illustration of an abuse by the Commissioner of the court process and of the fiscal powers conferred on him.

2.1.1 THE STATEMENT PROCEDURE

2.1.1.1 NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

The TAA makes provision for four types of assessments, namely:

- > original assessments⁶¹,
- ➤ additional assessments ⁶².
- > reduced assessments ⁶³ and
- > jeopardy assessments.⁶⁴

⁵⁷S1 of PAJA. Sasol Oil (Pty) Ltd v CSARS [2012] ZAGPPHC312, para [30].

⁵⁸S345 (1) (b) &(c) of the Companies Act 61 of 1973.

⁵⁹Hawker, para [22].

⁶⁰Ibid, para [25]. High Stead Entertainment (Pty) Ltd t/a "The Club" v Minister of Law and Order 1994 (1) SA 387 (C), 395A-B and President of the Republic of South Africa & Others v South African Rugby Football Union & Others 2000 (1) SA 1 (CC), para [133].

⁶¹S91of the TAA.

 $^{^{62}}$ S92 of the TAA & s79 of the ITA.

⁶³S93 (1) (a); (c) & (d) of the TAA read with s 45(b) of the TALAA. S79A of the ITA and s 31A of the

⁶⁴S94 (1) of the TAA. Croome & Olivier, 90 -108.

The genesis of the statement procedure can be traced back to the issuance of a notice of assessment by the Commissioner on the taxpayer⁶⁶. And since a notice of assessment is a precondition for the statement procedure, it is submitted that a discussion of a notice of assessment as a precursor to the statement procedure is appropriate and shall follow hereafter.

The court in *ITC* 788⁶⁸ drew a distinction between an assessment and a notice of assessment and held that the correct procedure is for the Commissioner to first do a n assessment and thereafter to notify the taxpayer accordingly.

The notice of assessment must contain the following:

- > the taxpayer's name;
- the taxpayer's reference number or any other form of identification;
- > the date of assessment;
- > the amount of the assessment;
- > the tax period subject to the assessment;
- > the date of payment of the amount assessed;
- > a summary of the procedure for lodging an objection to the assessment⁶⁹.

The purpose of issuing a notice of assessment is to determine the tax due by a taxpayer or a refund due to a taxpayer. At the out set, the Commissioner is sues an assessment to a taxpayer who may lodge an objection thereto if he is dissatisfied. 71

The taxpayer's objection or appeal to the Commissioner's decision must be noted within the prescribed period. ⁷² Non-compliance with such timeframes often has dire consequences for a dissatisfied taxpayer.

⁷⁰SARS Short Guide to the TAA, Chapter 8 at 42 para.8.1. Croome, B.J. "What can you do when SARS delays a Refund". (2007) Accountancy SA 31.

⁶⁵S 96(1) and (2) of the TAA; s77 (3) of the ITA and s 31 of the VAT Act.

 $^{^{66}}$ S77 (3) of the ITA & s31 (1) (a) – (f) & (2) (a) and (b) of the VAT Act.

⁶⁷Singh v CSARS 2003 (4) SA 520 (SCA). S96 of the TAA read with s62(1) and (2) of the TALAA and s40 (2) (a) the VAT Act and s 91(1) (b) of the ITA.

⁶⁸19 SATC 428. Croome & Olivier, 91; Irvin & Johnson (SA) Ltd v CIR 1946 AD 483 and Stroud Riley & Co. v CIR 1974 (4) SA 534 (E).

⁶⁹S96 (1) and (2) of the TAA.

⁷¹S32 (b) of the VAT Act; s81 (1) of the ITA and s104 (1) of the TAA.

⁷²S107A and Part IIIA of Chapter III of the ITA and the Rules promulgated thereunder. S104(5) (a) of the TAA and s 32(2) of the VAT Act.

In Rossi & Others v CSARS the court stated that:

"the fiscus should be entitled to assume finality in the collection of tax monies, particularly where the Act sets out certain timeframes which cannot be lightly ignored or rendered ineffective." 73

Support for this view was made by the court in *Van Wyk v Unitas Hospital & Another*. ⁷⁴ The court in *Van Zyl v The Master & Another* held that:

"[T]he only way in which these assessments can be questioned is in the manner provided for in the Act, namely, by objecting to the respondent in terms of s 81 of the Act and then appealing to the Special Court in terms of s 83 of the Act."⁷⁵

2.1.1.2 ONUS OF PROOF

The onus rests on t he taxpayer to prove on a preponderance of probabilities⁷⁶ that he is exempt from or not liable to any tax chargeable⁷⁷. A further onus rests on the taxpayer to prove that he did not receive an assessment.⁷⁸

2.1.1.3 OBJECTION TO A DISPUTED ASSESSMENT

The Commissioner may, on receipt of an objection to an assessment, alter the assessment in whole or i n p art o r disallow t he obj ection. ⁷⁹The t axpayer must b e a dvised of t he Commissioner's decision. ⁸⁰ The Commissioner must state the basis of his decision. ⁸¹

The Commissioner is obliged to furnish a taxpayer with adequate reasons in writing for the administrative action taken.⁸² The S upreme C ourt of A ppeal was called upon to make a determination on, i nter alia, the adequacy of the reasons for a tax assessment in *CSARS v Sprigg Investment 117 CC t/a Global Investment* ⁸³(*Sprigg*).

⁷³[2011] ZAGPJHC 16 para [1]. S100 (1) (a) to (g) of the TAA; s 32(5) of the VAT Act and s 81(5) of the ITA.

⁷⁴[2007] ZACC 24

⁷⁵1991(1) SA 874 (ECD), 877G.

⁷⁶CIR v Goodrick 12 SATC 279; Reliance Land & Investment BC (Pty) Ltd v CIR 14 SATC 47; CIR v SA Mutual Unit Trust Management Co. Ltd 1990 (4) SA 529 (A), 538D. Goldswain, G.K. The application and constitutionality of the so - called "reverse" onus of proof provisions and presumptions in the Income Tax Act: the revenue's unfair advantage. (2009) 2 Meditari Accountancy Research 61, 69 para 7.1.

⁷⁷S37 of the VAT Act. S102 (1) (a) to (f) of the TAA and s 82(a) to (c) of the ITA.

⁷⁸S106 (3) of the ITA. Singh v CSARS 2003(4) SA 520 (SCA).

⁷⁹S32 (4) of the VAT Act; s 81(4) of the ITA and s106 (2) of the TAA.

⁸⁰ Ibid.

⁸¹S106 (5) of the TAA.

⁸²S5 (2) of PAJA.

⁸³[2010] ZASCA 172.

The de cision of the court in *Minister of Environmental Affairs & Tourism v Phambili Fisheries (Pty) Ltd (Phambili)* wherein what constitutes 'adequate reasons' was endorsed - was approvingly cited in *Sprigg* as follows:

"[T]he decision maker must explain his position in a way which will enable an aggrieved person to say, in effect: 'even though I may not agree with it, I now understand why the decision went against me. I am now in a position to decide whether that decision has involved an unwarranted finding of fact, or an error of law, which is worth challenging."⁸⁴

In CSARS v Pretoria East Motors (Pty) Ltd the court stated that the raising of an additional assessment must be based on proper grounds.

The court held further that:

"It is only in this way that SARS can engage the taxpayer in an administratively fair manner, as it is obliged to do. It is also the only basis upon which it can, as it must, provide grounds for raising the assessment to which the taxpayer must then respond by demonstrating that the assessment is wrong." 85

The court set aside the taxpayer's income tax assessments for the 2000 to 2002 tax years and the taxpayer's additional V AT assessments for the 2000 to 2004 t ax years because S ARS could not provide proper grounds for raising such assessments.

The dispute concerning the aforementioned tax years was remitted to SARS for reassessment. This decision highlights the importance of furnishing the taxpayer with proper grounds or adequate reasons for raising assessments. The Commissioner's decision - where no objection has be en l odged or where a ny objection to a disputed a ssessment has be en disallowed, withdrawn or altered as the case may be - is final and conclusive. ⁸⁶ A dissatisfied taxpayer may lodge an appeal with the Tax Court against the Commissioner's decision ⁸⁷.

2.1.1.4 FILING OF A STATEMENT AT COURT

Where the taxpayer fails to pay any tax or interest thereon when it is due or payable, the Commissioner may file a statement with the clerk or registrar of any competent court. 88

^{842003 (6)} SA 407 (SCA), para [40]. Ansett Transport Industries (Operations) Pty Ltd & Another v
Wraith & Others (1983) 48 ALR 500 at 507. Re Palmer and Minister for the Capital Territory (1978) 23 ALR
196 at 206 -7. Nkondo & Gumede v Minister of Law & Order 1986 (2) SA 756(A) at 772I – 773I.

⁸⁵[2014] ZASCA 91, para [11].

⁸⁶S32 (5) of the VAT Act. S81 (5) of the ITA and s 107 (4) of the TAA.

⁸⁷S33 (1) of the VAT Act. S107 (1) of the TAA and s 83 (1) of the ITA.

⁸⁸S40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act. S91(1) (b) of the ITA and s 172(1) and (2) of the TAA read with s 62(1) of the TALAA.

The purpose of filing a statement at court is to recover the tax due or interest thereon. The ITA, the TAA and the VATA ct do not provide for prior notice to the taxpayer ere the commencement of the statement procedure. On the contrary, the Tax Administration Laws Amendment A ct 39 of 2013 (TALAA) s tipulates t hat t he s tatement procedure m ay be initiated by SARS after at least 10 business days' notice to the taxpayer. ⁸⁹ However, SARS may dispense with such notice if s atisfied that the collection of tax would be prejudiced thereby. ⁹⁰

The following are attributes of a statement:

- > it may be filed with the clerk or registrar of any competent court;
- ➤ the court must have jurisdiction over the taxpayer named in the statement; 91
- it must set forth the tax debt or interest due or payable by a taxpayer;
- it must be certified by the Commissioner as correct;
- it shall thereupon have all the effects of ⁹² and must be treated as a civil judgment lawfully given in the relevant court in favour of SARS for a liquid debt of the amount specified therein. ⁹³

SARS is e mpowered to amend the s tatement f iled with the c lerk or r egistrar if the Commissioner is of the opinion that the amount of the tax debt amplified in the statement is incorrect.⁹⁴

The TAA further stipulates that an amended statement is ineffective until it has been initialled by the clerk or registrar of the court concerned. 95

SARS is further empowered to withdraw a statement on the basis of the incorrectness of the tax debt reflected therein by forwarding a notice to the relevant clerk or registrar of the court and to file a new statement in terms of s 172(1). 96

Croome & Olivier ⁹⁷correctly postulate the view that the filing of a statement at court constitutes the deprivation of a taxpayer's property. Many dissatisfied taxpayers have, as will become apparent in the ensuing discussion, questioned the constitutional validity of the fiscal statutes that form the basis of the statement procedure.

⁸⁹S62 (1) of the TALAA.

⁹⁰S172 (3) of the TAA.

⁹¹S173 of the TAA. S40 (3) of the VAT Act and s 91 (2) of the ITA. Mokoena v CSARS 2011 (2) SA 556(GSJ).

⁹²S40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act and s 91(1) (b) of the ITA.

⁹³S174 of the TAA.

⁹⁴S175 (1) of the TAA read with s63 of the TALAA.

⁹⁵S175 (2) of the TAA.

⁹⁶S176 (1) & (2) of the TAA read with ss 62 (1) and (2) and 64 (a) of the TALAA.

⁹⁷Croome & Olivier, 229.

It appears from the mere reading of the provisions of the enabling fiscal statutes that the following formalities must be met before the commencement of the statement procedure:

- the taxpayer must have been afforded time within which to pay the tax due;
- the period within which the tax due should be paid must have expired;
- the taxpayer must have failed or refused to pay the tax due;
- SARS m ust have demanded payment of the tax due from the taxpayer to no avail. 98

In *Mokoena v CSARS*⁹⁹ (*Mokoena*) the taxpayer's application for the rescission of judgment granted in terms of s 91(1) (b) of the ITA was successful on the following grounds:

- ➤ the taxpayer had noted an objection to the assessment and such objection had not been finalized by the Commissioner when the latter filed a statement at court.
- the taxpayer was not aware of the judgment until when he approached Nedbank for a mortgage bond application and a credit check revealed this fact.

The court in *Mokoena* held that in the aforementioned circumstances, rescission is competent. In support of its decision, the court approvingly cited *Kruger v Commissioner for Inland Revenue* ¹⁰⁰ and Metcash. ¹⁰¹

In *Kruger v Sekretaris van Binnelandse Inkomste* ¹⁰²(*Kruger*) the taxpayer declined to pay the tax due to SARS and interest amplified on the assessments on the basis that the statement procedure in terms of s 91(1) (b) of the ITA was invalid and that the inclusion by SARS of additional interest was illegal. Jansen JA who delivered a unanimous decision of the court held that the inclusion of interest in the statement procedure was valid. The court accordingly dismissed the taxpayer's appeal.

The a pplicants in *Motsepe* v CIR^{103} launched an uns uccessful challenge a gainst t he constitutional validity of sections 91(1) (b); 92 and 94 of the ITA.

⁹⁸Ibid. S40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act; s62 (1) of the TALAA and s91 (1) (b) of the ITA.

⁹⁹2011 (2) SA 556 (GSJ). See also Chetty v Law Society, Transvaal 1985 (2) SA 756 (A). De Wet & Others v Western Bank Ltd 1979 (2) SA 1031(A). PE Bosman Transport Committee & Others v Piet Bosman Transport (Pty) Ltd 1980 (4) SA 794(A). Smith NO v Brummer NO & Another 1954 (3) SA 352 (O).

¹⁰⁰1966 (1) SA 457 (C), 462A.

¹⁰¹2001 1 BCLR 1 (CC), paras [65] and [66].

¹⁰²1973 (1) SA 394 (A).

¹⁰³1997 (2) SA 897 (CC).

In dismissing the application, the court held that:

"it was unnecessary to decide on the constitutionality of the aforementioned sections because the taxpayers have failed to exhaust the objection and appeal procedures provided for in the Act." 104

Furthermore, the court held that:

"the constitutionality of s 91(1) (b) of the ITA was not raised in the court a quo nor did the court a quo refer the matter to the CC for determination." 105

The court a quo referred only sections 92 and 94 of the ITA to the CC and there was no formal a pplication f or direct a ccess as r equired by the C onstitution 106 nor was such an application made from the bar. 107

In r esponse t o t he C ommissioner's pr ayer f or c osts i ncluding c osts attendant upon t he employment of three counsels, the court made the following remarks:

"In my view one should be cautions in awarding costs against litigants who seek to enforce their constitutional right against the state, particularly where the constitutionality of a statutory provision is attacked, lest such orders have an unduly inhibiting or 'chilling' effect on other potential litigants in this category. This cautious approach cannot, however, be allowed to develop into an inflexible rule so that litigants are induced into believing that they are free to challenge the constitutionality of statutory provisions in this court, no matter how spurious the grounds for doing so may be or how remote the possibility that this court will grant them access..." 108

Since s 40(2) (a) of the VAT Act is couched in terms similar to s 91(1) (b) of the ITA, it is prudent to discuss the various decisions of the courts on s 40(2) (a) of the VAT Act.

The constitutional validity of s 40 of the VAT Act was raised in *Traco Marketing (Pty) Ltd* and Another v The Minister of Finance and Others ¹⁰⁹(Traco).

Counsel for the appellants submitted that the said section was unconstitutional and thus invalid for it was inconsistent with the Bill of Rights, interalia, the right to administrative justice, human dignity, equality and access to courts.

¹⁰⁵Ibid, para [24].

¹⁰⁴Ibid, para [21].

¹⁰⁶S167 (6) (a) of the Constitution read with Rule 18 (1) to (5) of the Rules of the Constitutional Court. (Government Gazette No.25726).

¹⁰⁷Motsepe, para [25].

¹⁰⁸Ibid, para [30].

¹⁰⁹1998 (4) SA 1002(SE).

The court held that an objection against an assessment does not postpone the payment of tax reflected as owing. Leave was granted to the Commissioner to refer the matter to the CC to make a determination on the constitutional validity of s40 of the VAT Act. The constitutional validity of s40 of the VAT Act remained unresolved as a result of the CC's denial of direct access 110 to the Commissioner.

Croome & Olivier made the following comments in support of the statement procedure:

"It is unlikely that a court will find that the provisions contained in s 91(1) (b) of the Act and the VAT equivalents are invalid on constitutional grounds. The Commissioner is charged with administering the fiscal statutes of South Africa and it must be entitled to enforce the collection and recovery of assessed taxes due to it in order to ensure that the state recovers funds due to it to meet its constitutional obligations. It would appear that the filing of statements in court is found in other open and democratic societies and a taxpayer will be hard pressed to show that the provisions are unreasonable and unjustifiable in a democratic society. The provisions found in s 91(1) (b) of the Act and s 40 of the VAT Act are similar to those contained in the tax statutes of other democracies..."

The trial court in *Metcash Trading Ltd v CSARS*¹¹² (*Metcash1*) was called upon to make a determination on the constitutionality of sections 36, 40(2) a) and 40(5) of the VAT Act. Snyders J declared the aforementioned sections of the VAT Act invalid 113 and referred the matter to the CC for confirmation. 114

The r eferral w as, in the circumstances, necessary and in s ync with the provisions of the Constitution. A glimmer of hope for taxpayers attributable to the decision of the court in *Metcash1* was dashed by a unanimous decision of the CC in *Metcash* where the contentious sections of the VAT Act were declared constitutionally sound and the decision of the court a quo was set aside. 116

¹¹⁰S167 (6) (a) of the Constitution read with Rule 18 (1) to (5) of the Rules of the Constitutional Court (Government Gazette No. 25726).

Croome & Olivier, 232.

¹¹²2000 (2) SA 232 (W).

¹¹³Ibid, 330.

¹¹⁴S167 (5) of the Constitution.

¹¹⁵S172 (2) (a) of the Constitution.

¹¹⁶Metcash, para [74].

The court in *Singh v CSAR* ¹¹⁷(*Singh*) was called upon to make a determination on the validity of a statement procedure filed in terms of s 40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act where the taxpayer was not given a notice of assessment.

That the provisions of the VAT Act are mandatory insofar as the giving of written notice of assessment ¹¹⁸ to the taxpayer by the Commissioner is concerned, is crystal clear. It was common cause that the taxpayer was not served with a notice of assessment.

The court made the following remarks:

"[I]n the absence of a notice of assessment an amount which is not due cannot be payable. No such notice had been given in this case. It follows that it was not open to the Commissioner to utilize the procedures of s 40."¹¹⁹

It was further correctly stated that:

"the primary purpose of giving notice of the assessment is not objection and appeal but payment by the taxpayer." 120

The court in *Lesapo v North West Agricultural Bank & Another* ¹²¹(*Lesapo*) was called upon, pursuant to s 172 (2) (a) of the Constitution, to confirm an order invalidating section 38(2) of the North West Agricultural Bank Act 14 of 1981(the Act) which permits the North West Agricultural Bank to seize a defaulting debtor's assets without recourse to court and to sell such property at an auction to defray the debt owed to it.

The court a quo held that s 38(2) of the Act was inconsistent with s 34 of the Constitution. Counsel for the respondents cited *Hindry v Nedcor Bank Ltd & Another* ¹²²(*Hindry*) a s authority and justification for the respondents' actions to resort to a measure of self-help.

The respondents' counsel further submitted that the purpose of the impugned section was to provide a qui ck, e ffective and i nexpensive procedure that enables the B ank to protect whatever real rights it has in the secured property.

¹¹⁷2003 (4) SA 520 (SCA).

¹¹⁸S31 (4) of the VAT Act.

¹¹⁹Singh, para [12].

¹²⁰Ibid, paras [17] & [22].

¹²¹[1999] ZACC16.

¹²²1999 (2) SA 757 (W).

To this end, the respondents argued that the infringement of s 34 of the C onstitution was justified. The court held that there are other less invasive remedies which are available to the Bank to realise its purpose. Such means do not prejudice debtors to the extent that the s 38(2) procedure does.

The court held further that:

"[I]n appropriate circumstances an interdict against the alienation of the goods could be obtained on an urgent basis." 123

The court held that *Hindry* was distinguishable from *Lesapo* in that the former dealt with provisions of a fiscal statute and furthermore, the court held that it had not been called upon to make a determination on the correctness or otherwise of *Hindry*.

The court's decision was succinctly put by Olivier in the following terms:

"The court struck down the provision as unconstitutional as it infringed upon the right of access to court and breached the rule of law by sanctioning self - help: the bank was permitted to be a judge in its own cause." 124

2.1.2 THE APPOINTMENT OF A THIRD PARTY AS A TAXPAYER'S AGENT

The ITA, T AA and the V AT Act confert he Commissioner with the above-mentioned power. 125

Croome & Olivier¹²⁶ correctly state that the aforementioned power forms the substratum of the Commissioner's directive to financial institutions to pay over any funds in the taxpayer's bank account to liquidate the tax debts due by the taxpayer to SARS.

The primary purpose of the power is, according to Croome & Olivier, to enforce and ensure that assessed tax is paid by taxpayers¹²⁷. The fact that the Commissioner, armed with this power, directs a pension fund, provident fund or retirement annuity fund to use all or part of a lump s um or a nnuity to a taxpayer in s ettlement of tax due to the Commissioner be ars testimony to the scope and width of the Commissioner's powers. It is submitted that such powers must be used sparingly.

21

¹²³Ibid, para [27].

¹²⁴Olivier, L. Tax collection and the Bill of Rights. 2001 TSAR 193,198. First National Bank of SA Ltd v Land and Agricultural Bank of South Africa; Sheard v Land and Agricultural Bank of South Africa 2000 (3) SA 626 (CC).

¹²⁵S99 of the ITA; s179 (1) the TAA read with s 66(1) of the TALAA and s47 of the VAT Act.

¹²⁶Croome & Olivier, 232.

¹²⁷Ibid, 233.

In *Hunting Industries Ltd v Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe & Others* ¹²⁸ the court left open the question whether the Zimbabwean R evenue A uthority may a uthorise a bank to increase a taxpayer's overdraft to the limit of such facility in order to effect payment of overdue tax to the fiscal authority.

Croome & Olivier correctly opined that:

"it is unlikely that a South African court would authorise a bank to increase the taxpayer's overdraft to settle tax reflected as owing to SARS as the bank does not, in fact, have funds belonging to the taxpayer as required under s 99 of the ITA when the taxpayer's bank account is in overdraft." ¹²⁹

Croome & Olivier further and correctly postulate the view that:

"in practice the Commissioner resorts to these extreme measures only where the taxpayer has failed to respond to written or telephonic demands for payment" 130.

In *Hindry*¹³¹ the court was called upon to make a determination on the constitutionality of s 99 of the ITA. The Commissioner in this matter had, in terms of paragraph 28(1)(a) of the Fourth Schedule to the ITA, made an erroneous refund to the taxpayer during 1988 and 1990 respectively, in relation to the assessment of the 1987 and 1989 tax years. On discovery of this f act, correspondence ensued between Sauermann, a chartered accountant in the Commissioner's employ, and the taxpayer's accountants concerning the repayment of such erroneous refund. Sauermann further advised the taxpayer's accountants in a letter dated 13 February 1997 as follows:

"As you appreciate I must continue with procedures to recover the amounts involved." 132

The taxpayer's attorneys raised prescription against the Commissioner's claim and also that the taxpayer had lodged an objection to the assessment and that the Commissioner's decision was still pending.

To this end the Commissioner issued the s 99 of the ITA - notice to the taxpayer's bankers to "immediately pay or as and when funds become available" the amount amplified in the notice.

¹²⁸68 SATC 91.

¹²⁹Croome & Olivier, 233.

¹³⁰Ibid, 232.

¹³¹[1999] 2 All SA 38 (W).

¹³²Ibid, 44.

¹³³Ibid, 45.

The taxpayer launched an urgent application to interdict the taxpayer's bankers from making payment to the Commissioner pursuant to the notice and as a final relief the taxpayer sought an order setting aside the s 99 of the ITA - notice on the basis of it being inconsistent with the Constitution.

The taxpayer's counsel made the following submissions:

that the Commissioner is, in terms of the s 99 notice empowered to appoint a third party as an agent of the taxpayer and to require such agent to make payment of any tax due. The Commissioner in this case made the appointment to recover funds allegedly made in error.

Implicit in this submission is that the appointment was contrary to the empowering fiscal provision and thus invalid.

> the s 99 notice is inconsistent with the Constitution in that it:

"makes no provision for notice to the taxpayer or representations by him before it becomes operative; is totally outside the context of the court or any independent or impartial tribunal or forum; infringes a taxpayer's right to privacy, the right to just administrative action and the right of access to courts." 134

Counsel for the respondents argued that:

"the Commissioner's claim is for a repayment under paragraph 28(7) of the Fourth Schedule to the ITA of a refund that was incorrectly authorised by him under paragraph 28(1) (a) of the Fourth Schedule..."135

The court dispensed with the taxpayer's administrative injustice and prescription challenges by stating that paragraph 28(7) of the Fourth Schedule provides an answer to the argument that "any tax due" did not include any erroneous refund.

Furthermore, the court did not make any determination concerning the prescription of the claim because counsel for the taxpayer did not address this matter in the founding affidavit.

The c ourt's tated f urther that the rew as justification for the manner in which the Commissioner had acted in that –

¹³⁴Ibid, 46.

¹³⁵Ibid, 47.

"[T]he claim was the subject of considerable correspondence and the Commissioner explained how his claim was arrived at and its basis and gave the applicant the opportunity to pay it. The audi alteram partem principle may in appropriate cases be satisfied by a party being heard after an adverse decision is taken". 136

The court found that the purpose for which a person's rights are circumscribed by s 99 is:

"to facilitate and enhance his ability to recover promptly taxes which are due and to avoid assets of taxpayers being put beyond his reach and, having regard to the need to speed up the collection of taxes and to prevent the frustration of the Commissioner's efforts and steps to that end, the weapon is of great importance to the State. There is no suggestion of equally effective methods which could be used in the circumstances to achieve the desired needs" 137.

The court further held that any limitation of constitutional rights implicit in s 99 of the ITA is reasonable and necessary in an open and democratic society.

The court held that the s 99 notice is a justified measure for the collection of amounts due to the fiscus and is consistent with the Constitution.

The C ommissioner is not obliged to give prior notice to the taxpayer of the s 99 no tice. Croome & Olivier state that:

"The reason for this is that the taxpayer could dissipate the assets in an attempt to frustrate the revenue authority's attempt to enforce the collection of the tax debt." ¹³⁸

Brett A J e choed the same sentiments in *Contract Support Services (Pty) Ltd & Others v CSARS & Others (Support Services)* in the following terms:

"I agree with Mr. du Toit that to require a prior hearing would defeat the very purpose of the notice. It would alert the defaulting VAT payer to the intention to require payment from the latter's debtor and so enable the defaulting taxpayer to receive payment of the funds due and to enable the taxpayer to spirit such funds away. Where prior notice and a hearing would render the proposed act nugatory, no such prior notice or hearing is required." ¹³⁹

¹³⁸Croome & Olivier, 235.

Hold, 49. Administrator, Transvaal & Others v Traub & Others 1989 (4) SA 731(A), 748G-I & 750 B-F. Cabinet for the Territory of South West Africa v Chikane & Another 1989 (1) SA 349 (A),379 F-G and Administrator Transvaal & Others v Zenzile & Others 1991(1) SA 21 (A). Semenya & Others v CCMA & Others (2006) 27 ILJ 1627 (LAC). Sachs v Minister of Justice 1934 AD 9, 22. Momoniat v Minister of Law & Order & Others 1986 (2) SA 265 (W), 274D.

Baxter, L. Administrative Law. Cape Town: Juta, (1984), 588.

¹³⁷Hindry, 63.

¹³⁹[1999] 3 All SA 689 (W), 703.

In the aforementioned judgment, the court was called upon to set aside an earlier appointment of the applicants' bank as an agent for the applicants in terms of s 47 of the VAT Act and to declare the provisions of s 47 of the VAT Act unconstitutional in terms of s 172(1) of the Constitution.

It was contended on be half of the applicants that since the bank's appointment as an agent took place before assessments were issued, the issue of the s 47 notice was ultra vires.

To this end the court held that:

"I do not consider that the decision to issue the notices in terms of s 47 was inextricably linked with the assessments made. As previously stated in this judgment the liability to pay VAT in terms of s 28(1) of the VAT Act is based upon a self-assessment. I agree with Mr. du Toit that the obligation to pay VAT exists independently of any assessment" 140.

The applicants made a further submission that the s 47 notices should be set aside because the amounts of VAT referred to as payable therein are in dispute. In quashing this submission the court held that:

"section 36(1) of the VAT Act specifically provides that the obligation to pay and recover VAT under the VAT Act is not suspended by any appeal or pending the decision of a court of law." 141

The c ourt a pprovingly cited $Traco^{142}$ in s upport of i ts de cision. A ccordingly, t he c ourt dismissed the applicants' application.

The court in *Shaikh v Standard Bank South Africa Ltd & Another*¹⁴³ made a determination to the effect that payment of funds to SARS by an agent of the taxpayer pursuant to a deficient notice was valid. In this matter, SARS, relying on s 114 A of the CEA, issued a notice to the bank for the payment of VAT due from a vendor. The bank complied with the notice.

The ve ndor challenged the notice and subsequent payment by the bank pursuant to such notice on the basis that the notice was deficient.

S114A of the CEA is couched in terms similar to s 99 of the ITA and s 47 of the VAT Act. The court dismissed the application on the basis that the CEA made provision for such notice as well.

¹⁴²1998 (4) SA 74 (SE), 86G-J.

¹⁴⁰Ibid, 704.

¹⁴¹Ibid.

¹⁴³2008 (2) SA 622(SCA).

Reference was made to Howick District Landowners Association v Umngeni Municipality 144 in support of the court's decision.

In Goldblatt & Others v Liebenberg & Another 145, the court was called upon to make a determination on, inter alia, the manner in which the s 99 notice that was in contention in the matter, had been obtained.

In this c ase, the court dismissed the application on the basis that s 99 notice is sued to Liebenberg's em ployer was de ficient be cause t here w as no prior as sessment i ssued to Liebenberg.

The court in Pestana v Nedbank Ltd¹⁴⁶ cautioned against the abuse of tax collection and enforcement mechanisms. In this case, the court made it crystal clear that the s 99 notice should be used solely for the collection of tax due by a taxpayer and for no other purpose.

In Mpande Foodliner CC v CSARS & Others ¹⁴⁷(Mpande) - the applicant made an application for the reversal of the Commissioner's conclusion to a ppoint the M pumalanga P rovincial Government as the applicant's agent in terms of s 47 of the VAT Act.

The issues to be decided upon were, inter alia,

- (a) whether the applicant was part of a tax avoidance scheme?
- (b) what is the ambit of s 47 of the VAT Act?
- (c) whether the Commissioner had applied his mind when issuing the s 47 notice?
- (d) whether the applicant was entitled to a hearing before the s 47 notice was issued?

After careful consideration of the substance and circumstances surrounding the cession of Tivotonkhe (Pty) Ltd's business to the applicant, the court came to a conclusion that:

"the transaction between Tivotonkhe and the applicant was lawfully concluded at arm's length and that there was nothing untoward in transferring the feeding scheme by means of a cession". 148

The court held that the Commissioner did not apply his mind objectively to the substance and circumstances s urrounding t he t ransaction a nd t hat t here was no j ustification f or t he Commissioner's decision that there was indeed a tax avoidance scheme.

¹⁴⁴2007 (1) SA 206 (SCA). ¹⁴⁵71 SATC 189. Croome & Olivier, 238.

¹⁴⁶71 SATC 1.

^{147[2000]} JOL 7545 (T).
148 Ibid, para [24]. Hicklin v Secretary for Inland Revenue 24 SATC 705.

The other remaining is sues will be dealt with simultaneously. The court retorted that the appointment of an agent must be reasonably necessary.

The court highlighted the following jurisdictional facts that are not only vital in invoking s 47 of the VAT Act but that each such fact must be present and objectively determined before the Commissioner is competent to issue the s 47 notice:

"one, it must be reasonably necessary to declare a person an agent of the taxpaying vendor; two, who can only be declared an errant or recalcitrant taxpayer if an amount of tax, additional tax, penalty or interest is due and payable; three, only if the agent is required to make payments of such monies held by him or her for or due to the taxpaying vendor; and fourthly, only declare the person as an agent if he, she or it is the taxpaying vendor's debtor." ¹⁴⁹

The court held that there was no VAT liability which was due and payable by the applicant to the C ommissioner. The C ourt held further that it was not reasonably necessary for the Commissioner to invoke s 47 thereby declaring the Mpumalanga Provincial Government as an agent of the applicant as the aforementioned requisite jurisdictional facts were not present.

The court found that the Commissioner usurped fiscal powers bestowed upon him when he issued the s 47 notice.

The court further stated that:

"powers conferred on a public body for a particular purpose cannot be used for an ulterior purpose". 150

In dealing with the question whether the applicant was entitled to a hearing before the s 47 notice was issued?-

The court held that the question raises two fundamental questions, namely:

- > firstly, when should the audi alteram principle be applied?
- > secondly, can the principle be whittled away in the light of the Constitution?

In dismissing counsel for the Commissioner's submission which was predicated on *Hindry*, the court stated that *Hindry* was distinguishable from *Mpande* in that *Hindry* dealt with a different fiscal statute and that circumstances were different.

_

¹⁴⁹Ibid, para [33].

¹⁵⁰Ibid, para [35]. Van Eck NO & Van Rensburg NO v Etna Stores 1947 (2) SA 984(A), 996-7.

The court held further that in the light of the Constitution which is supreme, *Hindry* is no authority for the appointment of a third party as an agent of a taxpayer. The court further held that the Commissioner's action was not only unlawful but that it was null and void in that the denial of the audi alteram partem principle to the taxpayer before the issuing of the s 47 notice by the Commissioner constitutes an infringement of s 33(1) of the Constitution.

Counsel for the respondent cited *Support Services* as authority for the submission that a prior hearing is not a prerequisite for the issuance of the s 47 notice and that a prior hearing would defeat the very purpose of the notice.

The court respectfully expressed disagreement with Brett AJ's decision in *Support Services* in the following terms:

"Section 33(1) constitutionalises the ancient rules of natural justice: audi alteram partem and nemo iudex in sua causa by adding a dynamic third dimension: the duty to act fairly ... ¹⁵¹ Secondly, given the paramountcy and potency of the Bill of Rights, section 47 of the VAT Act must indeed yield to section 33(1) of the Constitution. ¹⁵²

In my view, therefore the right to a hearing encapsulated in the audi principle cannot be whittled away by the common law presumption of interpretation under the rubric of 'by necessary implication". ¹⁵³

In conclusion, the court held that on the facts of the case, the applicant should have been afforded a he aring prior to the issuing of the s 47 notice. The courts et a side the Commissioner's appointment of the Mpumalanga Provincial Government as an agent of the applicant on the basis of being unlawful, null and void and deficient of the requirement to act reasonably and fairly. In *Smartphone SP (Pty) Ltd v ABSA Bank Ltd & Another*¹⁵⁴ an urgent application was brought by the applicant for an order declaring as unlawful the appointment in terms of s 47 of the VAT Act of ABSA Bank as an agent of the applicant and the reversal of payment made in favour of SARS by ABSA Bank pursuant to such appointment.

The gravamen of the applicant's case was twofold, namely:

Firstly, that it had not been issued with an assessment in terms of s 31(4) of the VAT Act and

¹⁵¹Mpande, para [43].

¹⁵²Ibid, para [46].

¹⁵³Ibid, para [44].

¹⁵⁴[2003] JOL 12349(W).

> secondly, the applicant averred that it was not afforded a prior he aring be fore the issuing of the s 47 notice.

Relying he avily on the judgment of the SCA in Singh and also on Mpande, the applicant's counsel a rgued t hat t he ne cessary j urisdictional pr erequisite f or S ARS's a prointment of ABSA Bank as an agent of the applicant was lacking and that such a prointment and consequent payment to SARS effected pursuant to the s 47 notice was unlawful and fell to be set aside.

On a closer scrutiny of s47, the court stated that:

"s 47 permits the Commissioner to appoint an agent for a taxpayer for purposes of paying tax and that s 47 is not an aid to determining liability, it merely provides SARS with a mechanism to obtain payment" 155.

Reference was made with approval to Industrial Manpower Projects (Pty) Ltd v Receiver of Revenue, Vereeniging & Others 156 where the same sentiments were echoed by the court. The court stated that Singh's case is distinguishable from Smartphone and cannot therefore be relied upon by the applicant with success.

Turning to whether the Commissioner was obliged to afford applicant a prior hearing ere the issuing of the s 47 notice, the court briefly referred to the controversy in the South Gauteng High Court created by the decisions of Patel AJ in *Mpande* and Brett AJ in *Support Services*. The court expressed support and preference for Brett AJ's decision.

The court cited *National Educare Forum* v CSARS¹⁵⁷ with approval and in support of the fact that the applicant would suffer no prejudice as a result of not having been afforded a prior hearing before the s 47 notice.

In the final analysis, the court found that S ARS did in fact effect service of a not ice of assessment on the applicant's predecessor and to that end; the court held that there had been compliance with s 31(4) of the VAT Act. The applicant's application was dismissed with costs.

¹⁵⁵Ibid, para [8].

^{1562001 (2)} SA 1026 (W). 1572002 (3) SA 111(TkH).

2.1.3 THE "PAY NOW, ARGUE LATER" RULE

Section 36(1) of the VAT Act provides that the obligation to pay tax and the right to receive and r ecover tax shall not, unless the C ommissioner so directs, be suspended p ending a n objection or appeal or a decision by a court of law.¹⁵⁸

Similarly couched provisions can also be found in the ITA¹⁵⁹ and the TAA¹⁶⁰ read with the TALAA¹⁶¹. Olivier points out that the effect of section 36(1) which is often referred to as the rule is that:

"[T]he common law rule of practice in terms of which the execution of a judgment is automatically suspended upon the noting of an appeal, does not apply to a tax debt." ¹⁶²

The mere mention of the rule sends chills down the spines of many a taxpayer. The rule is an epitome of the wide powers conferred to the Commissioner pursuant to SARS's efficient and effective collection of tax revenue objective.

In *Mokoena*, Spilg J made the following comments concerning the Commissioner's powers and the exercise thereof:

"The provision however is draconian and should therefore be exercised with care by properly experienced and suitably qualified personnel since it may otherwise be reduced to an arbitrary guesstimate with grave consequences to the taxpayer. This is so because the Commissioner is entitled, even if there is an objection or an appeal, to seize and realise assets including money standing to the credit of the taxpayer's bank account notwithstanding that these actions may jeopardise the taxpayer's cash flow and business." ¹⁶³

The rule is not used in isolation but it is complimented by other powers at the disposal of the Commissioner to enforce the collection of taxes due. 164

¹⁵⁸Act 89 of 1991.

¹⁵⁹S88 (1).

¹⁶⁰S164.

 $^{^{161}}S58$.

¹⁶²Olivier, 194. CIR v NCR Corporation of SA (Pty) Ltd 1988 (2) SA 765(A).

¹⁶³2011 (2) SA 556 (GSJ), para [10].

¹⁶⁴Keulder, C. "Pay now, argue later" rule – before and after the Tax Administration Act. 2013 PELJ (16) 4 at 129 (Keulder).

Wunsh J lends support for this submission in the following terms in *Hindry*:

"The purpose for which a person's rights are limited by s 99 is ... to facilitate and enhance his (the Commissioner's) ability to recover promptly taxes which are due and to avoid assets being put beyond his reach and, having regard to the need to speed up the collection of taxes and to prevent the frustration of the Commissioner's efforts and steps to that end, the weapon is of great importance to the State. There is no suggestion of equally effective methods which could be used in the circumstances to achieve the desired needs." ¹⁶⁵

In similar vein, Keulder postulates the view that:

"[T]he 'pay now, argue later' rule, on its own, does not guarantee the effective collection of taxes but the enforcement procedures are such that SARS is assured of effectively collecting taxes." ¹⁶⁶

The rule is applicable to all forms of tax. Williams ¹⁶⁷ gives a detailed account of, inter alia, the most important forms of tax in S outh A frica to which, it is contended that, the rule is applicable. The effect of the rule is unaffected by the form of tax. Williams submits that tax is primarily levied for the realization of certain objectives whose scope goes beyond this study.

The s tatement pr ocedure ¹⁶⁸ coupled w ith the appointment of a third party as a taxpayer's agent compliment the rule and, when used collectively, are a formidable and effective tax enforcement and collection mechanism in the Commissioner's hands. It is appropriate at this point in time to pose the question, are there any remedies available to a taxpayer against the aforementioned draconian powers of the Commissioner?

The transformation of South Africa from a parliamentary to a constitutional state has had a major impact on the South African legal system. Chief amongst which is the adoption of the Constitution wherein the Bill of Rights¹⁶⁹ are enshrined. Fiscal laws did not survive the onslaught. The new dispensation us hered an erain which taxpayers were conferred with constitutional rights,¹⁷⁰ inter alia, – right to: property, privacy, a dministrative justice and access to courts.

¹⁶⁵[1999] 2 All SA 38 (W), 63.

¹⁶⁶Keulder, 130.

¹⁶⁷Williams, 2.

¹⁶⁸Metcash, para [24] for a detailed discussion thereof.

¹⁶⁹Chapter 2 of the Constitution.

¹⁷⁰Croome & Olivier, 10.

Concomitantly, taxpayers can challenge the constitutional validity of fiscal statutes that *prima facie* encroach upon such rights. The *Rudolph* ¹⁷¹ saga bears testimony to this fact.

The rule made its grand debut in the CC in *Metcash* where the court was called upon to make a determination on the constitutional validity of sections 36(1), 40(2) (a) and 40(5) of the VAT Act.

The c ourt de clared the impugned s ections of the V AT A ct c onstitutionally s ound. This finding of the CC was not well received by vendors and arguably by taxpayers alike.

The perception created in the minds of many despondent taxpayers following the *Metcash* decision was that SARS's paramount duty - when weighed against a taxpayer's constitutional rights - in particular, the right of access to courts - took precedence. This, despite the court's decision that s 36 (1) strikes a ba lance between the two competing interests. The *Metcash* decision is viewed with a jaundiced eye by many taxpayers primarily because the decision is *prima facie*, in contradiction with what the CC s tands for – a vanguard of constitutional rights!

Lesapo and Metcash are CC judgments which were decided one year apart.

The c ourt in both cases was called upon to make a determination on the constitutional validity of the impugned sections ¹⁷² which, the applicants contended, were inconsistent with s 34 of the Constitution and thus ousted the jurisdiction of the courts.

In *Lesapo*, the impugneds ection 38(2) of the Act, was declared unconstitutional and constituted self-help in terms of which the Bank was judge in its own cause.

The court further held that less invasive remedies such as an interdict, were available to the Bank t o pr otect i ts pr oprietary i nterests. T o t he t axpayers' di smay and contrary t o precedential pr inciples ¹⁷³ and e xpectations, t he c ourt i n *Metcash* declared t he i mpugned sections of the VAT Act which the applicants contended were analogous to those dealt with in *Lesapo*, constitutionally sound.

_

¹⁷¹Rudolph & Another v Commissioner for Inland Revenue & Others NNO 1994 (3) SA 771 (W); Rudolph & Another v Commissioner for Inland Revenue & Others 1996 (2) SA 886 (A);

Rudolph & Another v Commissioner for Inland Revenue & Others 1996(4) SA 552 (CC) and Rudolph & Another v Commissioner for Inland Revenue & Others 1997 (4) SA 391(SCA).

¹⁷²S38 (2) the North West Agricultural Bank Act 14 of 1981 and ss 36 (1); 40(2) (a) and (5) of the VAT

¹⁷³Ngcukaitobi, 148.

JUSTIFICATION FOR THE METCASH decision lies in the following:

- *Metcash* was concerned with the "pay now, argue later" rule in the context of the VAT Act and no other fiscal statute. ¹⁷⁴
- VAT, unlike income tax, is a multi stage tax that arises continuously and does not give rise to liability once an assessment has been issued. Vendors are in a sense involuntary tax-collectors 175 or they act as collection agents on be half of SARS. 176
- vendors are entrusted with several important duties in relation to VAT. Prime amongst which is the duty to calculate and levy VAT on each supply of goods; to correctly calculate output and input tax on a transaction concerned and to keep proper records supported by prescribed vouchers...¹⁷⁷
- the trial c ourt in *Metcash1* placed heavy emphasis on *Lesapo* wherein t he impugned s ection of the A ct which was said to be analogous to the impugned sections in *Metcash* expressly ousted the jurisdiction of the courts permitted self-help, was inconsistent with said of the Constitution and was therefore constitutionally invalid.
- Lesapo was concerned with a provision of the Bank Act and not a fiscal statute and that the trial court erred in placing such heavy and unwarranted emphasis on Lesapo which is clearly distinguishable from Metcash.
- section 36 (1) is not concerned with access to a court of law and says nothing that can be construed as a prohibition against a resort to such a court. ¹⁷⁸
- section 36 (1) is concerned with the non-suspension of the obligation to pay assessed V AT and a lso with the C ommissioner's discretionary powers the exercise of which constitutes a dministrative action reviewable in terms of administrative law principles. 179

¹⁷⁴Keulder, 139. Metcash, paras [9], [10] & [13]. Croome & Olivier, 224.

¹⁷⁵Metcash, paras [17] and [70].

¹⁷⁶Keulder, 139.

¹⁷⁷Metcash, para [15].

¹⁷⁸Ibid, para [37].

¹⁷⁹ Contract Support Services (Pty) Ltd & Others v CSARS & Others 1999 (3) SA1133 (W), 1144. Johannesburg Stock Exchange & Another v Witwatersrand Nigel Ltd & Another 1988 (3) SA132 (A), 152A-E.

• Section 36(1) does not expressly oust the jurisdiction of the courts nor is there any hidden or implicit ouster of the jurisdiction of the courts to be found in s 36... ¹⁸⁰

"On a plain reading of s 40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act, the provision expressly contemplates the involvement of the courts... [T]he execution process created by s40 (2) (a) specifically goes via the ordinary judicial institutions. It requires the intervention of court officials and procedures. Filing the statement sets in train the ordinary execution processes of the particular court", 181.

- the statement procedure has the effect of a civil judgment, ¹⁸² the execution of which necessitates the intervention of court officials. A coordingly, a taxpayer's right of access to the courts remains intact. ¹⁸³
- [A]though s 40(5) is couched in broad and general terms:

"It pertinently limits possible grounds for challenge but does not prohibit litigation. Not only is that the tenor of the provision but it is as well to remember that we are engaged in the interpretation of a taxation statute, where verbal precision is essential. Nothing that is not stated is to be read in, especially not an element as important as an ouster." 184

- the "pa y now, argue l ater" rule given i ts pr evalence in many jurisdictions, is accepted as reasonable in open and democratic societies based on freedom, dignity and equality as required by section 36. ¹⁸⁵
- the "pay no w, argue later" rule successfully strikes a ba lance be tween SARS's paramount dut y of c ollecting t axes s peedily and e fficiently and the t axpayer's right of access to the courts. ¹⁸⁶

¹⁸⁰Metcash, para [47].

¹⁸¹Metcash, para [51].

¹⁸²S40 (2) (a) of the VAT Act. Capstone, para [37].

¹⁸³Metcash, para [72].

¹⁸⁴Ibid, para [53]. Jaga v Donges NO & Another; Bhana v Donges NO & Another 1950 (4) SA 653 (A), 662G-663A. Bato Star Fishing (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs & Others 2004 (4) SA 490 (CC) para 90. South African Airways (Pty) Ltd v Aviation Union of South Africa & Others 2011 (3) SA 148 (SCA) paras 25-30. Natal Joint Municipal Pension Fund v Endumeni Municipality 2012 (4) SA 593(SCA),para[18] - [26]. Bastian Financial Services (Pty) v General Hendrik Schoeman Primary School [2008] ZASCA 70, paras 16-19. Barkhuizen v Napier [2007] ZACC 5, paras 135-139. KPMG Chartered Accountants (SA) v Securefin Ltd & Another 2009 (4) SA 399(SCA), para 39. Singh v The Common Wealth [2004] HCA 43, para 19.

¹⁸⁵Ibid, para [61].

¹⁸⁶Keulder, 151.

The TAA, which came into force on 01 October 2012, brought relief to aggrieved taxpayers vis-à-vis the "pay now argue later" rule through the replication of factors to be considered by a s enior S ARS of ficial when de ciding on a taxpayer's r equest to s uspend payment of a disputed tax debt. The Taxation Laws S econd A mendment A ct 18 of 2009 (TLSA) first introduced these factors by amending section 88 of the ITA.

The relevant provision of the TAA states that:

- "A senior SARS official may suspend payment of the disputed tax having regard to –
- (a) the compliance history of the taxpayer;
- (b) the amount of tax involved;
- (c) the risk of dissipation of assets by the taxpayer concerned during the period of suspension;
- (d) whether the taxpayer is able to provide adequate security for the payment of the amount involved;
- (e) whether the payment of the amount involved would result in irreparable financial hardship to the taxpayer;
- (f) whether sequestration or liquidation proceedings are imminent;
- (g) whether fraud is involved in the origin of the dispute; or
- (h) whether the taxpayer has failed to furnish information requested under this Act for purposes of a decision under this section." ¹⁸⁷

The above – mentioned provision of the TAA is being cited for the following reasons-

- although t he w ording of s ection 36 of the V AT A ct is to a greater extent analogous to section 88 of the ITA and section 164 of the TAA in that they both deal with the "pay now, argue later" rule section 36 is silent on the factors to be considered by a C ommissioner when deciding on a taxpayer's request for the postponement of a disputed assessment.
- s164 of the TAA read with s 58 of the TALAA provides more clarity and has a wider scope of application in that it also incorporates an appeal as a precondition for the suspension of payment.

-

¹⁸⁷S164 (3) of the TAA.

Section 164(5) of the TAA sets out circumstances under which a senior SARS official may deny a request or revoke a decision to suspend payment with immediate effect, if satisfied that:

- (a) the objection or appeal is frivolous or vexatious;
- (b) the taxpayer is employing dilatory tactics;
- (c) the suspension of payment should not have been granted; or
- (d) there is a material change in the factors that precipitated the suspension of payment.

2.1.3.1 CRITICISMS - METCASH

The following criticisms have been levelled against *Metcash*:

2.1.3.1.1 CRITICISMS BY KEULDER

Keulder postulates the view that while an adjustment and payment of interest as a result of a successful appeal is a feat welcomed by many taxpayers¹⁸⁸, the latter are not insulated from experiencing financial ruin for strict adherence to the rule.¹⁸⁹

Taking her cue from Olivier, ¹⁹⁰ Keulder submits that if the grounds upon which a taxpayer can dispute the filing of a statement were clear, the latter's right of access to the courts would be better protected ¹⁹¹.

Keulder further states that from the mere reading of *Metcash 1* and *Metcash* it is not clear which countries s erved as a basis for the court's decision that the rule is a ccepted as reasonable in open and democratic societies. ¹⁹² In dismissing the respondent's submission that this practice - "pay now, argue later" rule – was applicable in other countries Snyders J in *Metcash 1* held that this did not persuade her that the South African provision is constitutional. ¹⁹³

¹⁹⁰Olivier, 199.

¹⁸⁸S36 (5) of the VAT Act.

¹⁸⁹Keulder, 128.

¹⁹¹Keulder, 141.

¹⁹²Ibid.

¹⁹³2002 (2) SA 232 (W), 329.

A further criticism made by Keulder is that the remedies available to a court when reviewing a commissioner's discretion not to suspend payment are circumscribed. Keulder submits that the court does not have the power to overturn the commissioner's decision. ¹⁹⁴

On the contrary, the court is empowered in judicial review proceedings to grant any order that is just and equitable including an order directing the commissioner to give reasons; act in the manner the c ourt requires; s etting aside the a dministrative a ction or r econsider the decision. ¹⁹⁵

It is submitted that it is unclear what the basis of this criticism is relative to section 8(1) (c) of PAJA. The phrase 'set aside' bears the following meaning – "...disregard or reject, annul" while the phrase 'overturn' means - "turn over or fall down, upset, overthrow, subvert". 197

It is submitted that *prima facie*, the two phrases bear the same meaning or have a similar import. There is merit in the criticism only insofar as the lack of clarity as to the extent to which the court may set aside the administrative action is concerned.

Keulder's tates that the value of the review procedure is further diminished when the statement procedure is invoked, as the taxpayer may then not challenge the correctness of the statement in legal proceedings. ¹⁹⁸

A further criticism is that:

"[T]he constitutional attack on the s 36 rule therein lies that the right of access to the courts, as contained in section 34 of the Constitution, aims to prevent self- help. The court should thus have examined whether this rule, at the time it is invoked, unreasonably permits SARS 'help itself' and become the judge in its own case. The question, therefore, should not be whether the taxpayer will have access to the courts at some stage, but rather whether the taxpayer will have the opportunity to access the courts before being obliged to pay the assessment amount." ¹⁹⁹

It is Keulder's further criticism that *Metcash* was concerned only with the "pay now, argue later" rule in relation to VAT and has no binding effect on other tax legislation.

¹⁹⁵Ibid, 140. S8 (1) and (2) of the PAJA.

¹⁹⁴Ibid.

¹⁹⁶Allen, R.E. The Pocket Oxford Dictionary, 7 ed. Oxford: Clarendon Press, (1984).

¹⁹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁹⁸Keulder, 140 -1.

¹⁹⁹Ibid.

Keulder submits further hat the considerations which influenced the court in arriving at the decision in *Metcash* would not necessarily lead to the same conclusion in relation to income tax matters.²⁰⁰

2.1.3.1.2 CRITICISMS BY WILLIAMS

Williams, echoes the same sentiments in the following terms –

"The fact is that, in Metcash, the Constitutional Court pronounced on the constitutionality of the pay-now-argue-later rule in the context of the Value - Added Tax Act, but said nothing at all about its constitutionality in the context of the Income Tax Act. It is by no means a foregone conclusion that the court would have reached the same conclusion if income tax had been an issue, for there are many significant differences between the two taxes, not the least being that there is far more scope for genuine disputation about income tax liability than for VAT."

Williams further states that the ITA (and in similar vein the TAA) provides no guidance as to the relative weight of the factors to be considered by the Commissioner when confronted with an application to s uspend pa yment pe nding a n objection or a ppeal a gainst a disputed assessment.²⁰²

Williams highlights the ongoing confusion and misunderstanding regarding the

"pay now, argue later" rule in the context of the income tax by making reference to Mokoena and Capstone - two High Court judgments decided a year apart and "which came to diametrically opposite conclusions on key aspects of the rule". ²⁰³

Williams correctly states that the aforementioned decisions:

"being High Court judgments of a single judge, have the same precedential authority over lower courts including the Tax Court - in their respective areas of jurisdiction" ²⁰⁴.

²⁰⁰Ibid, 139.

²⁰¹Williams, RC Unresolved aspects of the "pay now argue later" rule. January 2012, PWC Synopsis 4.

²⁰²Ibid, 5.

²⁰³Ibid, 4.

²⁰⁴Ibid, 5.

While Williams prefers *Capstone* on the basis of it being more persuasive than *Mokoena*, he bemoans the fact that neither judgment provides guidance in relation to the manner in which the s 88(3) factors of the ITA and s 164(3) factors of the TAA read with s 58 of the TALAA are to be interpreted.²⁰⁵

Williams further criticises the relevance of some of the factors such as the amount of tax involved. He poses the question whether the quantum of the tax debt is the yardstick for determining whether to grant or refuse suspension of payment?²⁰⁶

In the final analysis, Williams concludes by focusing our attention on an instance where the Commissioner m akes a n a dverse d ecision to the taxpayer's r equest for s uspension of a n obligation to pay. The taxpayer is at liberty to review that decision in terms of PAJA²⁰⁷. The general rule on the basis of which a taxpayer's review application will be determined is that the taxpayer's obligation to pay shall not be suspended pending an objection or appeal unless there exists a substantial reason to depart from the general rule.

Williams cites the following as being the substantial reason often advanced by a taxpayer to persuade the court to deviate from the rule:

- where i nsistence on immediate pa yment of the tax de bt would cause "irreparable financial hardship" to the taxpayer.

To this end Williams states that:

"[t]he adjective 'irreparable' sets the bar very high, and it is probably an inappropriate word anyway, since any amount of financial loss is inherently reparable by an award of damages." ²⁰⁸

In a counter argument Keulder submits that:

"[t]his might, however, not be the case where a taxpayer is rendered insolvent. The objection and appeal procedure may take a substantial amount of time which could severely prejudice a taxpayer and even lead to the taxpayer's sequestration or liquidation." ²⁰⁹

²⁰⁶Ibid.

²⁰⁵Ibid.

²⁰⁷S6, Act 3 of 2000.

²⁰⁸Williams, RC Unresolved aspects of the "pay now argue later" rule January 2012, PWC Synopsis 6. Keulder,

²⁰⁹Keulder, 144.

2.1.3.1.3 CRITICISMS BY ROOD

Rood, L. submits that the commissioner is, in the context of the rule, still a judge in a dispute to which he is a party. ²¹⁰ He further states that it is not clear from a mere reading of s 164(3) whether the fraud referred to therein relates to alleged fraud or an actual conviction of fraud.

For, if it is an allegation of fraud that is to be taken into consideration, this would be unfair to a taxpayer as he would not have been afforded an opportunity to defend himself against such an allegation.²¹¹

2.1.3.1.4 CRITICISMS BY OLIVIER

At the outset, Olivier states that the summary procedures - it is submitted that by this she refers collectively to sections 36(1), 40(2) (a), 40(5) and 47 of the VAT Act and similarly couched provisions of the ITA and TAA read with the TALAA

- "are aimed at the swift collection of tax, not the settlement of the matter." 212

Olivier states that it is incomprehensible why the court in *Metcash* (vide para [44]) cited a list of cases wherein the jurisdiction of the high court to determine tax issues had been accepted since:

"it was never the taxpayer's argument that under the scheme of the act the jurisdiction of the courts had been excluded. The argument was that the 'pay now, argue later' rule excludes the jurisdiction of the courts at the time it is invoked." ²¹³

Olivier submits that the court erred by disregarding the fact that the "pay now, argue later rule" may culminate in a taxpayer suffering financial ruin to the extent of not being able to pursue other avenues at his disposal.²¹⁴

Olivier points out that theoretically, the possible judicial review of the commissioner's discretion not to suspend payment of tax pending an objection or appeal does a llow a taxpayer access to the courts. Olivier further states that:

"review proceedings are, however, extremely limited in nature" 215.

²¹⁰Rood, L. "Pay now, argue later" 13 August 2009 Finweek 44.

²¹¹Ibid.

²¹²Olivier,194

²¹³Ibid. 196.

²¹⁴Ibid, 197.

²¹⁵Ibid.

This criticism has been assailed by Keulder as being unclear and devoid of a basis²¹⁶.

Details of the grounds on which a decision may be reviewed are set out in *Johannesburg*Stock Exchange v Witwatersrand Nigel Ltd²¹⁷ as being:

- failure to apply one's mind to the relevant issues;
- that the decision was arbitrary or capricious or mala fide;
- that the decision was as a result of an unwarranted adherence to a fixed principle;
- that the decision was arrived at in order to further an ulterior or improper purpose;
- that the decision was as a result of taking into account irrelevant considerations or ignoring relevant facts and
- that the decision was grossly unreasonable.

Olivier poses the question whether the review procedure is worth anything when a taxpayer is precluded from questioning the correctness of the assessment on which the statement based?

Olivier submits that:

"the ground on the basis of which a decision is often taken on review is that it is so grossly unreasonable that the decision-maker failed to apply his mind to the matter" 218

Concomitantly, the correctness of such decision or in this case - the assessment - would have to be considered for the applicant's review application to succeed.

Olivier further submits that it is regrettable that the court in *Metcash* did not address the fact that a lthough a commissioner must, in terms of s 31 notify a taxpayer of an assessment; nothing prohibits him from employing the summary collection procedures before a vendor is notified²¹⁹. Such was the case in *Mokoena*²²⁰ and *Support Services*. It is Olivier's further submission that despite the fact that the exercise of discretionary powers is subject to review, the l egislature s till has a n obligation to ensure that such provisions are constitutionally sound. 222

²¹⁶Keulder, 140 (vide footnote 114).

²¹⁷1988 (3) SA 132(A) 152 A- E.

²¹⁸ Olivier, 197.

²¹⁹Ibid.

²²⁰2011 (2) SA 556 (GSJ).

²²¹1999 (3) SA1133 (W).

²²²Olivier, 197-8. Keulder, 141.

Olivier raises a concern to the effect that it is disquieting that the court did not make any reference to Dawood v Minister of Home Affairs; Shalabi v Minister of Home Affairs; Thomas v Minister of Home Affairs where it was held that:

"[T]he mere fact that the exercise of a discretion is subject to judicial review does not relieve the legislature of its constitutional obligation to promote, protect and fulfil the rights entrenched in the Bill of Rights"²²³.

Olivier postulates the view that as a result of the enactment of the Constitution the normative basis of administrative law in SA shifted.

This fact is canvassed in detail in *Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association of SA: In re Ex*Parte President of the Republic of South Africa ²²⁴(Pharmaceutical)

According to Olivier references to judicial independence and the exercise of discretionary powers are equally applicable to a discretion exercised by the commissioner.

Instead, all that the court in *Metcash* held in this regard was that:

"[T]he commissioner has to be able to justify his decision as being rational, and that the action must constitute 'just administrative' as required under s 33 of the Constitution and be in compliance with any legislation governing the review of administrative actions". 225

The court in *Metcash* held that the certificate procedure in terms of the VAT Act does not constitute self-help as s 40(2) (a) contemplates the involvement of the courts. The court held further that the filing of a certificate sets in motion the ordinary processes of the particular court. Execution is primarily regulated by either the Uniform Rules of the High Court (Rules 45,45A and 46) or by the Magistrates' Court Rules (Rule 36). ²²⁶

Olivier points out that the setting in motion of the execution procedures of a specific court is a far cry from the right of access to court.

Nowhere in the VAT Act is provision made for the taxpayer to be informed in advance of the commissioner's intention to file a certificate. It is thus not a matter of a default judgment being obtained against a taxpayer.²²⁷

42

²²³2000 8 BCR 837(CC), para [48].

²²⁴2000 3 BCLR 241(CC), para [45].

²²⁵Metcash, para [42].

²²⁶ Ibid, para [51].

²²⁷Olivier, 198.

Olivier's further criticism is that the grounds upon which a taxpayer can dispute the filing of the certificate are not clear. ²²⁸

All that the court said in this respect was that:

"it is notorious that the field of tax law can and often does raise a whole panoply of procedural or substantive issues derived from one or more of the individually complex and usually interlocking fields of law involved in tax disputes." ²²⁹

In support of Keulder's criticism relating to foreign systems and decisions that influenced the court's decision that the rule is accepted as reasonable in open and democratic societies, Olivier submits that:

"the reader is thus left in the dark as to which foreign systems and decisions indeed serve or do not serve as an international basis of acceptance." ²³⁰

The court in *Kruger* found that the certificate procedure is not merely an administrative step aimed at facilitating the extra - judicial recovery of tax²³¹ but that it is a proper judicial decision reviewable at the instance of the taxpayer.

To this end, Olivier postulates the view that:

"the mere fact that the judgment obtained may be rescinded is no guarantee that at the time the statement is filed, a taxpayer has access to the court with which it is filed. In practice an order to rescind the judgment is often made precisely because it was obtained without the taxpayer having knowledge that a statement has been filed."²³²

The court in *Capstone*²³³ held that a statement filed with the clerk or registrar of a competent court is not a judgment on the following grounds:

- it did not resolve any dispute between SARS and the taxpayer;
- it does not have the attributes of a judgment such as -"the rights-determining character of a judicially delivered judgment" ²³⁴;
- it is a mere recovery provision no different from the other recovery provisions in the Act.

²²⁸Ibid, 199.

²²⁹Metcash, para [56].

²³⁰Olivier, 199.

²³¹1973 (1) SA 394 (A), para [64] - [65].

²³²Olivier, 199.

²³³Capstone, para [37]. Keulder, 144.

²³⁴Williams, 5.

Olivier correctly submits that:

"the court in Metcash did not address the applicant's argument that there were less invasive ways to effect the speedy and efficient collection of taxes". 235

The applicant raised this view at the trial court and also in the constitutional court.

Snyders J in *Metcash1* lent support to the applicant's argument by highlighting the following as I ess i nvasive w ays that t he C ommissioner c ould have r ecourse t o pur suant t o hi s paramount duty, namely:

- > higher penalties;
- > the furnishing of security;
- > higher interest rates or
- > time-linked penalties.

In similar vein, Keulder makes the following submission:

"The possibility that there are less invasive ways for SARS to achieve its objective is one of the factors the court would have had to consider in terms of s 36 of the Constitution." ²³⁶

Olivier concludes her criticism of *Metcash* in the following terms:

"The constitutional court found it unnecessary to deal specifically with the taxpayer's arguments that as the summary procedures are also applicable in respect of the penalty provisions; the effect is that the commissioner may impose punishment for criminal conduct without recourse to the courts"²³⁷.

2.2 TAXPAYER'S REMEDIES

From the above discussion, the following feature predominantly as the taxpayer's remedies against the draconian powers of the Commissioner:

- (a) lodging of an objection ²³⁸ or
- (b) noting an appeal against a disputed assessment; ²³⁹

²³⁵Olivier, 199. Metcash 1, 146B.

²³⁶Keulder, 142.

²³⁷Olivier, 200. Rood, L. "Pay now, argue later" 13 August 2009 Finweek 44

²³⁸S32 (1) (b) of the VAT Act; S81(1) read with s 107A of the ITA and rules promulgated thereunder and s 104(1) of the TAA.

²³⁹S33 (1) & 33A of the VAT Act. SS 83(1) and 83A of the ITA and s 107(1) of the TAA.

- (c) making an application for the suspension of payment²⁴⁰pending an objection or appeal or decision of a court;
- (d) making an application for the review of the Commissioner's decision²⁴¹ and lastly
- (e) making an application to directly access the Constitutional Court²⁴²

In the case of direct access to the CC section 38 of the Constitution confers an aggrieved taxpayer with the requisite *locus standi*.

²⁴⁰S88 (3) of the ITA and s 164(3) of the TAA.

²⁴¹S6 (1) of PAJA.

_

²⁴²S 167(6) (a) of the Constitution read with Rule 18(1); (2); (3); (4) & (5) of the Constitution. Du Plessis, M.et al. Constitutional Litigation, 77-90.

CHAPTER 3

REVIEW OF THE RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

A r eview of the relevant l egislation will be confined to taxpayers' r emedies under the Constitution and PAJA. It is contended that the relevance of the maxim *ubi ius ibi remedium* - "[T]here can be no right without remedies" is more appropriate in this chapter.

There has been an inevitable overemphasis in the preceding chapters on litigation as if it is the only recourse available to a disgruntled taxpayer. It is contended that there's an array of remedies at the disposal of taxpayers when SARS acts beyond the parameters of its authority. This chapter entails a brief discussion of such remedies and their relevance to the rule.

3.1.1 A CASE FOR CONSTITUTIONAL & PAJA REMEDIES

The CC confirmed the constitutionality of the rule in *Metcash*. ²⁴⁴ Croome correctly contends that:

"[N]otwithstanding the CC's decision in Metcash, an aggrieved taxpayer may institute an action in court against the Commissioner's resolve to unreasonably enforce payment of a disputed tax pending an appeal"²⁴⁵.

Croome submits further that:

"the action would be based on the principles of administrative law and particularly on the right to administrative justice contained in s 33 of the Constitution read with PAJA" ²⁴⁶.

The court per Kriegler J in *Metcash* echoed similar sentiments in the following terms:

"A violation of the rules of administrative justice provides the ground for such challenge." ²⁴⁷

SARS is an organ of state envisaged in the Constitution. The court in FNB^{249} held that SARS is subject to the Constitution.

²⁴³Caiden, GE International Handbook of the Ombudsman: Evolution and Present Function. Greenwood Press, (1983), 5. Croome, 305.

²⁴⁴2001 1 BCLR 1 (CC). Motsepe 1997(2) SA 897 (CC); Lesapo [1999] ZACC16 and Hindry 1999(2) SA 757 (W).

²⁴⁵Croome, 220.

²⁴⁶Ibid.

²⁴⁷Metcash, para [42].

²⁴⁸S239 of the Constitution. S2 of the SARS Act.

²⁴⁹2002 (7) JTLR 250,252.

With the enactment of the Constitution, South Africa was transformed into a democratic state that is founded,

"inter alia, on the value of an accountable, responsible and open democratic government." ²⁵⁰ Croome correctly submits that:

"the Constitution puts it beyond doubt that all organs of state must be held accountable." The CC in Carmichele v Minister of Safety & Security and Another held that members of the public are entitled to claim compensation from the government for damages suffered due to the actions or omissions of government officials.

Croome submits in similar vein that:

"[A] taxpayer who suffers damages due to intentional or negligent actions by SARS will be entitled to successfully institute a delictual claim against SARS. In the light of the constitutional guarantee that South Africa is based on the values of an accountable, responsible and open democratic government, SARS owes taxpayers a legal duty not to cause them damage." ²⁵³

The Constitution confers a right to administrative action on taxpayers.²⁵⁴ The Constitution further provides for the enactment of national legislation that gives effect to the rights stated in s 33.²⁵⁵ It is submitted that PAJA is such national legislation and that it should be read with as it compliments the Constitution.

Croome correctly contends that:

"It should be noted that PAJA cannot be used to evaluate whether a constitutionally guaranteed right has been infringed. The constitutional challenge must be evaluated under s33 of the Constitution.

However, PAJA r emains r elevant in that the r ight to fair administrative a ction in the Constitution must be interpreted according to the provisions of PAJA"²⁵⁶ Croome correctly submits that: "PAJA is applicable to the Commissioner and his officials."²⁵⁷

²⁵⁰S1 of the Constitution. Croome, 282.

²⁵¹Croome, 282. ss195 & 41(1) (c) of the Constitution.

²⁵²2001 (4) SA 938 (CC).

²⁵³Croome, 282.

²⁵⁴S33 of the Constitution.

²⁵⁵S33 (3) of the Constitution.

²⁵⁶Croome, 279. Zondi v MEC for Traditional & Local Government Affairs 2005v(3) SA 589 (CC) paras 99 – 102. TML Consultancy v CSARS [2012] ZATC 1 and Natal Joint Municipal Pension Fund v Endumeni Municipality [2012] ZASCA 13 for the interpretation of tax legislation.

In similar vein, Currie & Klaaren postulate the view that:

"PAJA applies to all administrators and no part of the public service is exempt from its provisions" 258.

Taking his cue from *Pharmaceutical* where it was held that:

"the Constitutional Court is obliged to ensure that public power has been lawfully exercised" 259.

Croome submits that:

"the aim of PAJA is not only to ensure fair administrative action, but it is aimed at the control of public power". ²⁶⁰

Croome submits further that:

"an analysis of relevant cases indicates that taxpayers are hardly ever successful in arguing that a fiscal statute or provision thereof is unconstitutional." ²⁶¹

It is for this reason that it is contended that not all is doom and gloom for the aggrieved taxpayer. According to Croome,

"An action based on the violation of the rules of administrative justice may, depending on the facts, be the most suitable remedy available to the taxpayer". ²⁶²

In the light of the above discussion, it is contended that a case has been established that the Constitution and PAJA and consequently the remedies provided therein, are applicable in the tax law arena and by extension to the rule.

Thus, a brief discussion of the Constitutional and PAJA remedies follows:

²⁶¹Ibid. Metcash; Motsepe, Hindry, Lesapo, Support Services, Mpande & Smartphone in chapter 2 hereof. Rudolph v CIR NNO 1996 (7) BCLR 889 (CC). Carlson Investments Share Block (Pty) Ltd v CSARS 2001 (3) SA 210 (W). Silke, J. Taxpayers and the Constitution: A battle already lost. 2002 Acta Juridica, 334.

²⁵⁸ Currie, I & Klaaren, J. The Promotion of Administrative Justice Act Benchbook. Cape Town: Siber Ink, (2001), para 2.37, 82 & 83 (Currie & Klaaren).

²⁵⁹2000 (2) SA 674 (CC) para 51.

²⁶⁰Croome, 280.

²⁶²Croome, 221. Metcash, para [42].

3.2 CONSTITUTIONAL REMEDIES

3.2.1 Purpose

Du Plessis et al (Du Plessis) submit that the primary purpose of constitutional remedies is:

"to vindicate the Constitution and deter future infringements..."²⁶³

In *FNB*, the court stated that:

"The remedy must be effective because without effective remedies for breach, the values underlying and the rights entrenched in the Constitution cannot properly be upheld or enhanced." ²⁶⁴

Another important f eature of constitutional r emedies is "what is just and equitable in the circumstances of that case" 265.

3.2.2 Direct access to the Constitutional Court

The Constitution provides for circumstances under which direct access to the Constitutional Court (CC)²⁶⁶ may be granted. The CC does not, as a general rule, sit as a court of first instance. Du Plessis submits that:

"[o]ne of the primary reasons why direct access is ordinarily regarded as undesirable is because it deprives the court of the benefits and the assistance of the views of other courts on the matter before it." 267

A taxpayer seeking direct access must, according to Du Plessis:

"establish that there are compelling reasons justifying the exceptional leapfrogging of courts below" ²⁶⁸.

²⁶⁶S167 (6) (a) read with Rule 18(1) to (5) of the Constitution.

²⁶³Du Plessis, M. Pinfolds, G. & Brickhill, J. Constitutional Litigation. Claremont: Juta, (2013), 108.

²⁶⁴1997 (3) SA 786 (CC), para 96.

²⁶⁵Ibid, para 19.

²⁶⁷Du Plessis, 83. Zondi v MEC for Traditional and Local Government Affairs & Others 2005 (3) SA 589 (CC), para 13; Mkontwana v Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Municipality 2005(1) SA 530(CC), para 11 and Minister of Home Affairs & Another v Fourie 2006 (1) SA 524(CC), para 39.
²⁶⁸Du Plessis, 85.

Du Plessis²⁶⁹ submits further that a ll of the formalities mentioned hereunder - a de tailed discussion of which falls out side the scope of this research - must be satisfied for direct access to be granted:

- \triangleright the interests of justice²⁷⁰:
- \triangleright the exhaustion of all other remedies²⁷¹;
- \triangleright a non self created urgent need for legal certainty²⁷²;
- > substantial similarity be tween the relief sought by applicant and that sought by parties in a matter already before the CC²⁷³ and
- reasonable prospects of success of a claim. 274

In exceptional circumstances²⁷⁵, the CC does grant direct access.

3.2.3. LIST OF CONSTITUTIONAL REMEDIES

(a) Right of access to courts

Hoexter states that:

"South African taxpayers currently have an inherent right under s 34 of the Constitution to approach a court for relief where SARS has abused the powers under the fiscal statutes or has failed to comply with the requirement of fair administrative procedure under s 33 of the Constitution and as expanded on in PAJA. The only problem that taxpayers have to contend with is that it is costly and time consuming to institute an action in the High Court."276

A taxpayer may in terms of s 39 of the Constitution approach the CC for relief where the former be lieves that the Commissioner has infringed his constitutional rights contained in chapter 2 of the Constitution. It is contended that since SARS is a state organ, it must comply with s 195 of the Constitution.

²⁶⁹Ibid, 89.

²⁷⁰Ibid, 83. Bruce & Another v Fleecytex Johannesburg CC & Others 1998 (2) SA 1143 (CC), paras

²⁷¹Du Plessis, 85. Besserlik v Minster of Trade, Industry & Tourism 1996 (4) SA 331 (CC), para 6.

²⁷²Du Plessis, 87. Kruger v President of the RSA & Others 2009 (1) SA 417 (CC).

²⁷³Du Plessis, 88. Bhe & Others v Khayelitsha Magistrate & Others 2005 (1) SA 580 (CC).

²⁷⁴Du Plessis, 89.Christian Education South Africa v Minister of Education 1999 (2) SA 83 (CC), para 7.

²⁷⁵Justice Alliance of South Africa v President of the Republic of South Africa & Others 2011 (5) SA 388 (CC) para 18. S v Dlamini; S v Dladla & Others 1999 (4) SA 623 (CC) para 35.

²⁷⁶ Hoexter, C. The New Constitutional & Administrative Law Volume 2, Administrative Law. Claremont: Juta, (2002), para 8.5, 305.

(b) Declaration of invalidity

Croome submits that:

"where an Act of Parliament is inconsistent with the Constitution, the CC has the power to strike it down". ²⁷⁷

(c) Delictual claim for damages

Croome submits that:

"to succeed with a delictual claim for damages against SARS, a taxpayer must prove that the wrongful or culpable actions or inactions by SARS caused him to suffer damage" ²⁷⁸

Croome further submits that:

"damages will be awarded where a mere declaration that the administrative action is invalid is not sufficient compensation to the person against whom the administrative action had been taken." ²⁷⁹

This view was endorsed by the court in FNB. 280

(d) Order for costs

Three types of costs may be awarded, namely:

- party and party costs also known as 'attorney and attorney costs';
- attorney and client costs and
- de bonis propriis costs²⁸¹

Croome correctly submits that:

"[t]he general rule is that a cost order follows the result of the litigation". 282

²⁸⁰1997 (3) SA 786 (CC). Transnet Ltd v Sechaba Photoscan (Pty) Ltd 2005 (1) SA 299 (SCA). Olitziki Property Holdings v The State Tender Board 2001 (3) SA 1247 (SCA).

²⁷⁷Croome, 279. SS 167(5) & 172(1) (a) of the Constitution. Metcash; Motsepe, Hindry, Lesapo, Support Services, Mpande & Smartphone in chapter 2. Rudolph v CIR NNO 1996 (7) BCLR 889 (CC). Carlson Investments Share Block (Pty) Ltd v CSARS 2001 (3) SA 210 (W). Silke, J. Taxpayers and the Constitution: A battle already lost. 2002 Acta Juridica 334.

²⁷⁸Croome, 280. S1 of the State Liability Act 20 of 1957.

²⁷⁹Ibid, 279.

²⁸¹Croome, 284.

²⁸²Ibid. Modibane v SARS [2011] ZAGPJHC 152.

(e) Declaratory orders

The C onstitution c onfers powers to c ourts to grant de claratory or ders. ²⁸³ The C C g ranted declaratory orders in *Minister of Health & Others v Treatment Action Campaign & Others*. ²⁸⁴

The High Court Act confers High Courts with the power to grant declaratory relief. 285

(f) Interdicts

Interdicts may be divided into t wo main categories, namely prohibitory or mandatory interdicts²⁸⁶. The court may either grant an interiminterdict or a final interdict. The court in *Setlogelo v Setlogelo*²⁸⁷ stipulated requirements that must be satisfied by an applicant seeking an interdict.

(g) The Public Protector & The Human Rights Commission

Croome²⁸⁸ further contends t hat t he following i nstitutions pr ovide r emedies t o a ggrieved taxpayers:

- The SMO (Service Monitoring Office);
- The Public Protector²⁸⁹;
- The Human Rights Commission²⁹⁰

While a detailed discussion of the above institutions lies beyond the scope of this research, Croome postulates the view that the popularity of these remedial institutions is overshadowed by the fact that:

"taxpayers are loath to lodge complaints against the Commissioner for fear of victimisation²⁹¹.

²⁸³S 38 of the Constitution.

²⁸⁴2002 (5) SA 721 (CC), paras 129 and 135.

²⁸⁵S 19(1) (a) (iii) of the High Court Act 59 of 1959. Langa CJ & Others v Hlophe 2009 (4) SA 382 (SCA), para 28. Ex Parte Nell 1963 (1) SA 754 (A), 759. Reinecke v Incorporated General Insurance Limited 1974 (2) SA 84 (A), 93.

Du Plessis, 120-1.

 $^{^{286}}$ Du Plessis, 121-3. 287 1914 AD 221. Webster v Mitchell 1948 (1) SA 1186 (W). Janse van Rensburg NO & Another v Min.

of Trade & Industry & Another NNO 2001 (1) SA 29 (CC), para 32. National Treasury & Others v Opposition to Urban Tolling Alliance & Others 2012 (6) SA 223 (CC), paras 41 & 45.

²⁸⁸Croome, 309 -17.

²⁸⁹S182 (1) (a), (b) & (c) and (2); (4) & (5) of the Constitution and s 6 (1) to (9) of the Public Protector Act 23 of 1994.

²⁹⁰S184 (1) to (4) of the Constitution.

²⁹¹Croome, 310.

It is submitted that taxpayers' awareness of the services that the Public Protector and the Human Rights Commission offer should be heightened by SARS through training, print and electronic media and pamphleteering. Croome correctly submits that:

"[T]he Human Rights Commission, like the Public Protector, does not have the specialized skills required to deal with taxpayers' complaints and cannot offer them an effective remedy for alleged breaches of their rights... The inevitable conclusion is that the South African taxpayers do not currently have a cost – effective method of dealing with difficulties with the Commissioner."292

3.3 PAJA REMEDIES

3.3.1 Just administrative action

The right to just administrative action is one of the three inextricably linked procedural rights that the Constitution confers on taxpayers. To be just, administrative action must be *lawful*, reasonable and procedurally fair²⁹³. This requirement begs the question – what is the effect and status of the common law on administrative action? The court in *Pharmaceutical* held that the Constitution subsumes the common law principles of administrative law. ²⁹⁴For administrative action to be reasonable, Hoexter submits that it must be rational and proportional.²⁹⁵ Croome contends that:

"many decisions taken by the Commissioner constitute administrative action and are thus subject to the right to administrative justice²⁹⁶.

It is Croome's further contention that for a taxpayer to succeed with a just a dministrative action - claim, he must show that:

"the Commissioner's action constitutes 'administrative action' and is thus reviewable by the court²⁹⁷.

²⁹²Ibid, 312.

²⁹³S33 (1) & (2) of the Constitution. S 3(1) & (2) of PAJA, purpose and preamble thereto as well.

²⁹⁴2000 (2) SA 674 (CC), para 46. Currie, I. & Klaaren, J. para 1, 24 & 25.

²⁹⁵Hoexter, C. Administrative Law in South Africa. 2 ed. Claremont: Juta, (2007), 307 & 309-10

²⁹⁶Croome, B. Taxpayers' Rights in South Africa. Claremont: Juta, (2010) 206 (Croome).

²⁹⁷Ibid, 204-5. President of the Republic of SA v SARFU 2000 (1) SA 1 (CC), para 141. Greys Marine Hout Bav (Pty) Ltd & Others v Minister of Public Works & Others 2004 (12) BCLR 1298 (C), 1308. Gamevest (Pty) Ltd v Regional Land Claims Commissioner, Northern Province and Mpumalanga & Others 2003 (1) SA 373 (SCA), 385.

PAJA's definition of 'administrative action' encompasses a refusal by the Commissioner to take a decision²⁹⁸.

3.3.2 Judicial review of administrative action

The main remedy under PAJA is the judicial review of administrative action²⁹⁹. The court in *Bato Star Fishing (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs & Others (Bato)* stated that:

"[W]hen administrative action is taken on review; it has to be reviewed on the grounds provided for in PAJA and not on the narrower grounds provided for under the commonlaw." 300

3.3.3 Exhaustion of internal remedies

Notwithstanding the peremptory provisions of PAJA regarding the exhaustion of internal remedies ere the commencement of judicial review proceedings,³⁰¹ the court in *Goldfields Ltd v Connellan NO & Others* held that:

"[T]here would be no purpose in using internal remedies available since the regulator showed bias against Gold Fields." ³⁰²

Stringent c riticisms have been levelled at s 7(2) of PAJA. Prime a mongst such critics is Plasket who retorted as follows:

"It places a particularly onerous burden on those who wish to review the lawfulness, reasonableness or procedural fairness of administrative action first to exhaust internal remedies and curtail the power of the courts to review administrative action when internal remedies have not been exhausted. In this note it will be submitted that s7 (2) of the Act is an unconstitutional infringement of the right to access to court entrenched in s 34 of the Constitution. Even if it is unconstitutional, it will be submitted that it is ill-conceived, unfair, and impractical and ought to be reconsidered by the legislature." 303

²⁹⁹Croome & Olivier, 278. SS 6 & 8 of PAJA.

³⁰²[2005] 3 All SA 142 (W), 169.

²⁹⁸S1 of PAJA.

^{3002004 (4)} SA 490 (CC), paras 22 & 25. Williams, R.C. SARS & fair administrative action: Quo Vadis? (31 January 2013), Tax Talk 24 -25. Investigations Directorate: Serious Economic Offences v Hyundai Motor Distributors (Pty) Ltd: In re Hyundai Motor Distributors (Pty) Ltd v Smit NO & Another [2000] ZACC 12. Corpclo 2290 CC t/a U-Care v Registrar of Banks (755/2011) [2012] ZASCA 156. Western Cape High Court v City of Cape Town 2011 (6) SA 88 (WCC). City of Cape Town v Bouley Properties (Pty) Ltd [2010] ZAWCHC 650.

³⁰¹S7 (2) of PAJA.

³⁰³Plasket, C. 'The Exhaustion of Internal Remedies and S 7(2) of PAJA 3 of 2000' (2002) 119 SALJ 50.

Relying on *Bato*, ³⁰⁴ Croome concludes that:

"[A] court may review a case before internal remedies are exhausted." 305

It is submitted that while the aforementioned criticisms are valid and persuasive - s 7(2) provisions of P AJA remain in force and effect. O'Regan J in *Bato* cautioned a gainst the possibility of duplication or contradictory relief³⁰⁶ in the event where a litigant requests a court to review a decision before the exhaustion of available internal remedies.

It is further contended that section 7(2) (c) of PAJA provides for circumstances under which the exhaustion of available internal remedies - requirement may be circumvented.

3.3.4 Grounds of review

The grounds for the review of administrative action are explicitly stated in PAJA³⁰⁷

3.3.5 Formalities

For a taxpayer to rely on PAJA remedies he must show that:

- SARS falls within the institutions referred to in s 1;
- the Commissioner has actually made a decision or failed to do so;
- the Commissioner made a decision under an 'empowering provision' defined in s 1;
- the Commissioner's decision constitutes 'administrative action' as envisaged in s 33 of the Constitution;
- the Commissioner's action or inaction falls within the ambit of s 1;
- the Commissioner's decision adversely affects his rights ³⁰⁸

³⁰⁶Bato, para 17.

³⁰⁴2004 (4) SA 490 (CC), para 17.

³⁰⁵Croome, 237.

³⁰⁷S6 (2) (a) – (i) and S6 (3) (a) & (b) of PAJA. Croome, 232-6. Currie & Klaaren, 153 -174. CSARS v Hawker Aviation Services Partnership & Others 2005 (5) SA 238 (T). S v Roberts 1999 (4) SA 915 (SCA) paras 32 & 34. BRT Industries South Africa (Pty) Ltd v Metal & Allied Workers' Union 1992 (3) SA 673 (A). Scenematic Fourteen (Pty) Ltd v Min. of Environmental Affairs & Tourism and Another 2004 (4) BCLR 430 (C), 443. Minister of Health & Another NO v New Clicks SA (Pty) Ltd & Others 2006 (2) SA 311 (CC).

³⁰⁸Croome, 209-11. Croome & Olivier, 27 -9.

3.3.6 Reasons for administrative action

A taxpayer whose rights have been adversely and materially affected by administrative action is, upon request, entitled to being furnished with written reasons for such decision. 309

The court in Swissborough Diamond (Pty) Ltd & Others v Govt. of RSA & Others 310 made comments that constitute a useful guide to the adequacy of reasons to be provided.

4. OTHER REMEDIES

(a) Doctrine of legitimate expectation

In the final analysis, Croome contends that the doctrine of legitimate expectation espoused by the court in Administrator, Transvaal & Others v Traub & Others³¹¹ is applicable in the tax arena in the following terms:

"it allows an extension and applicability of the rules of natural justice and would under PAJA form part of an evaluation whether the 'administrative action' is procedurally fair." 312

(b) SARS Service Charter (The Charter)

On 19 December 2005 SARS released the Service Charter. According to Croome, the Charter did not create new rights nor did it indicate how taxpayers might enforce their rights³¹³.

Croome contends further that:

"the rationale behind the release of the Charter was to heighten taxpayers' awareness of their rights and to improve the culture of service within SARS in its interaction with taxpayers"314.

The Charter does not create any rights enforceable by a taxpayer in a court of law. However, it a ppears that a llegations of breaches of service standards laid down in the Charter are, subject t o a c omplaint b y a n a ggrieved t axpayer ha ving be en r egistered w ith S ARS, investigated by the Service Monitoring Office.

³¹¹1989 (4) SA 731 (A).

³⁰⁹S5 of PAJA. Rule 3(1) (a) promulgated under s 107A of the ITA.

³¹⁰1999 (2) SA 279 (T), 324. Min. of Environmental Affairs & Tourism & Others v Phambili Fisheries (Pty) Ltd & Another 2003 (6) SA 407 (SCA), paras 40-41.

³¹²Croome, 249. Schweitzer, AG. 'Aspects of the Administrative Law Relationship between the Taxpayer and the Commissioner for Inland Revenue.' (1991) LLM thesis, UCT. para 3.3, 52. ³¹³Croome, 286.

³¹⁴Ibid. In an interview with a senior SARS official at the PMB SARS Office on 4 February 2015, advice was given to the effect that the 2005 SARS Service Charter has not been updated since its release.

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION

4.1 CONCLUSION

It is instructive in this chapter to reflect on the problem questions raised at the outset of this study to de termine whether or not they have been comprehensively addressed. The main objective of the study was to determine whether the rule strikes a balance between SARS's paramount duty and the taxpayers' constitutional rights.

The study reveals that the Constitution confers rights and remedies to taxpayers vis-à-vis the rule. The study further reveals that the Constitution confers wide powers to the Commissioner pursuant to the latter's tax collection and administration mandate on which the sustenance of the South African government, being a constitutional state, depends.

There is overwhelming evidence as the study reveals, that the "pay now, argue later" rule does not vitiate taxpayers' rights. That the "pay now, argue later rule obtains in open and democratic societies and that the fiscal statutes from which it is derived have general application, is justification for the rule.

However, stringent but valid criticisms notably by Keulder, Williams, Rood and Olivier have been levelled against Metcash and by extension, to the "pay now, argue later" rule.

The s tudy also reveals that the prospects of success for a taxpayer that challenges the constitutionality of a fiscal statute primarily within the context of the rule are a kin to searching for a needle in a haystack.

Taxpayers w hose r ights ha ve b een m aterially and adversely affected by t he a ctions or omissions of the Commissioner are at liberty to institute an action against SARS based on breach of the rules of administrative justice. It is submitted that their prospects of success in respect of such action are, depending on the facts, relatively good.

Entrenched in the C onstitution and P AJA are provisions that curtail the C ommissioner's powers to administer and collect taxes. However, where it is in the interest of the public and in a ddition thereto, S ARS's tax a dministration and collection mandate would be compromised if the rules of natural justice are observed, the court sanctions SARS' actions notwithstanding the prejudice suffered by a taxpayer.

The primary purpose of PAJA is not only to ensure fair a dministrative action but also to control the exercise of public power by organs of state.

In the final analysis, the study further reveals that the rule does not - albeit that a conc erted effort w as m ade t hrough l egislative i ntervention - strike a ba lance be tween SARS's paramount duty and the taxpayers' constitutional rights.

The one and only effective remedy at the disposal of taxpayers is the costly and time consuming litigation route – which many destitute taxpayers cannot afford.

Given the fact that M etcash was decided within the VATAct context and not within the context of the ITA, it is submitted that there is room for further research and speculation on what the CC's' decision would be when called upon to make a determination on the rule within the income tax context.

Sadly, until such decision is made, taxpayers have to come to terms with reality - that being, the "pay now, argue later rule" is here to stay and seemingly for a long period!

4.2 RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that a more cost-effective remedy for taxpayers such as the establishment of the Hugh Corder - type of administrative tribunals with restricted rights of appeal to the courts or the introduction and a doption of the Australian 'merits review's ystem which according to Croome would enhance the quality of administrative decisions made in South Africa – should be considered.

It is r ecommended that S ARS S ervice C harters hould be regularly reviewed and where necessary updated to take account of developments in the tax arena.

The applicable Charter was introduced by SARS in 2005. It is submitted that it is dated and should be reviewed as a matter of urgency to bring it in line with the developments in the tax arena.

The P ublic P rotector and the H uman R ights C ommission and not S ARS, should play a pivotal r ole of he ightening t axpayers' awareness to the fiscal r elated services that such institutions render to the public through pamphleteering, print and electronic media and also by providing training to staff in order to equip them with the skills and expertise necessary to address tax complaints.

Fear of r etribution by SARS is the underlying reason be hind taxpayers' reluctance to complain about SARS. It is recommended that mechanisms should be devised on the basis of which taxpayers can lodge complaints against SARS on a confidential basis. A criteria that such complaints must satisfy should be set and be published to circumvent the flooding of the system with frivolous and vexatious complaints. Consequently, the only complaints to be entertained should be those that meet the criteria.

The creation and enhancement of pressure groups such as taxpayers' association (where they do not exist) which play a significant role in improving the protection of taxpayers' rights, is recommended.

It is further recommended that the SMO should be detached from SARS in order to enhance its effectiveness in relation to a ddressing taxpayers's ubstandard performance-related complaints levelled against SARS.

REFERENCES

BOOKS

Allen, R.E. The Pocket Oxford Dictionary, 7ed. Oxford: Clarendon Press, (1984).

Bak, N. Completing your thesis – A practical guide. Cape Town: Van Schaik, (2004).

Baker, P. & Groenhagen, A. *The Protection of Taxpayers' Rights - An International codification*. London: European Policy Forum, (2001).

Baxter, L. Administrative Law. Cape Town: Juta, (1984).

Blackshield, T. & Williams, G. Australian Constitutional Law and Theory – Commentary and Materials, 3ed. The Federation Press, (2002).

Beneke, C. DeLoitte & Touche VAT Handbook. Durban: Butterworths, (1993).

Bentley, D. *Taxpayers' Rights: An International Perspective*. Queensland: Bond University: Revenue Law Journal, (1998).

Burns, Y. Administrative Law under the 1996 Constitution. 2ed. D urban: Lexis N exis, (2003).

Caiden, G.E. International Handbook of the Ombudsman: Evolution and Present Function. Greenwood Press, (1983).

Cheadle, M.H. Davis, D.M. & Haysom, H.R.L. South African Constitutional Law: The Bill of Rights. Durban: Lexis Nexis Butterworths, (2002).

Clegg, D. *The Lexis Nexis Practical Guide to VAT 2004 / 2005*. 10ed. Durban: Lexis Nexis, (2004).

Croome, B.J. *Taxpayers' Rights in South Africa*. Claremont: Juta, (2010).

Croome, B.J. & Olivier, L. Tax Administration. Claremont: Juta, (2010).

Currie, I. & De Waal, J. The Bill of Rights Handbook. 5ed, Cape Town: Juta, (2005).

Currie, I. & Klaaren, J. *The Promotion of Administrative Justice Act Benchbook*. Cape Town: Siber Ink, (2001).

Currie, I. The *Promotion of Administrative Justice Act: A Commentary*, Cape Town: Siber Ink, (2007).

De Koker, A. Williams, R.C. & Silke, J. Silke Tax Yearbook 2012–2013. Durban: Lexis Nexis, (2013).

De Ville, J.R. *Judicial Review of Administrative Action in South Africa*. Durban: Lexis Nexis Butterworths, (2003).

Du Plessis M., Penfold G. & Brickhill J., Constitutional Litigation, Claremont: Juta, (2013).

Hahlo, H.R. & Kahn, E. *The South African Legal System and its Background*. Johannesburg: Juta, (1973).

Henkin, L. & Rosenthal, A.J. Constitutionalism and Rights –The Influence of the United States Constitution Abroad. Columbia University Press, (1999)

Hoexter, C. The New Constitutional & Administrative Law, Volume 2, Administrative Law. Claremont: Juta, (2002).

Hoexter, C. Administrative Law in South Africa, 2 ed. Claremont: Juta, (2012).

Kotze, J. (South Africa – chapter 20) In Whitehead, S. The Tax Disputes and Litigation Review, 2ed. London: Law Business Research Ltd, (2014).

Lange, C. & Wessels, J. The Right to know – South Africa's Promotion of Administrative Justice and Access to Information Acts. Cape Town: Siber Ink, (2004).

Roeleveld, J.J. Hamel, E.H. & Jordaan, A.H. *A Practical Approach to VAT*. Pretoria: Digma (1991).

Silver, M. & Benecke, C. Deloitte VAT Handbook, 7ed. Durban: Butterworths, (2009).

Stack, E.M. Cronje, M. & Hamel, E.H. *The Taxation of Individuals & Companies*, 4e d. Durban: Butterworths, (2001).

The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Current English. Oxford: Oxford University Press, (1992).

Venter, J.M.P et al. A Student's Approach to Income Tax – Business Activities. Durban: Lexis Nexis, (2014).

Williams, R.C. *Income Tax in South Africa: Law and Practice*, 4ed. Durban: Lexis Nexis Butterworths (2006).

PERIODICAL ARTICLES

Buttrick, D. "Whether wrong or right, pay now" (May 2013) Moneyweb's Tax Breaks.

Corder, H. "Administrative Justice: A cornerstone of South Africa's Democracy" (1998) 14 SAJHR 51.

Croome, B.J. "Paying Up or Arguing First" (January 2001) Business Day Professional.

Croome, B.J. "Court d ecision gives s ome hop e t o objecting t axpayers" (August 2009) Business Day.

Croome, B.J. "Constitutional Law and Taxpayers' Rights in South Africa – An overview" (2002) Acta Juridica 1.

Croome, B.J. "What can you do when SARS delays a refund" (2007) Accountancy SA 31.

Currie, I. "What di fference doe s t he P AJA m ake t o Administrative Law?" (2006) Acta Juridica 325.

Deloitte VAT Department, "New Guidelines on 'pay now, argue later' principle" (**January 2010**) Moneyweb's Tax Breaks.

Dlamini, C.R.M. "The Right to Administrative Justice in South Africa: Creating an Open and Accountable Democracy" (Parts 1 & 2) (2000) 4 TSAR 697 and (2001) 1 TSAR 53.

Editorial, "Revenue Ruling and Legitimate Expectations" (February 1990) The Taxpayer 24.

Editorial, "The Commissioner's Powers of Tax Collection" (March 1999) The Taxpayer 54.

Editorial, "Abuse of Tax Collection Procedures" (May 2009) The Taxpayer 81.

Editorial, "The use by SARS of s 99 of the Income Tax Act and s 47 of the VAT Act to extract payment of a tax amount from a Taxpayer's Bank Account" (March 2003) The Taxpayer 41.

Editorial, "Appointment of Taxpayer's Agent by SARS" (March 2005) The Taxpayer 5.

Emslie, T. and Eden, P., "The Administrative Act of Income Tax Assessment: The Tyranny of the Unexercised Discretion", (1992) SALJ 696.

Fine, F. "Revenue Services says Bill threatens its efficiency", (1 December 1999) Business Day.

Flick, G.A. "Administrative Adjudications and the duty to give reasons - a search for criteria" (1978) Public Law 16.

Goldswain, G.K. "The application and constitutionality of the so-called 'reverse' onus of proof of provisions and presumptions in the Income Tax Act: the revenue's unfair advantage" (2009) 17 Meditari Accountancy Research 61.

Green, C. "Pay now, argue later' relief will also apply to income tax" (**February 2010**) Moneyweb's Tax Breaks.

Joffe, H. "Hindry v N edcor Bank Ltd: A nother C onstitutional A ttack on an Income T ax Provision Fails" (**December 1999**) Insurance and Tax 13.

Keulder, C. "Pay Now, Argue, Later' Rule – Before and After the Tax Administration Act" (2013) (16) 4 PELJ 125 / 487.

Klaaren, J. "Three waves of Administrative Justice in SA" (2006) Acta Juridica 370.

Kotze, D. "Pay Now, Argue Later" (February 2013) Tax Talk Business.

Mc. Fadden, C. "Pay now and argue later" (February 2012) Tax Advisory.

Milner E., "The Tax Administration Act – pay now argue later" (**October 2012**) The Practice Manager.

Ngcukaitobi, T. "Precedent, Separation of Powers and the Constitutional Court" (2012) Acta Juridica 148.

Olivier, L. "Tax Collection and The Bill of Rights" (2001) 1 TSAR 200.

Olivier, L. "SARS has to provide adequate reasons" (2009) 72 THRHR 507.

Plasket, C. "The Exhaustion of Internal R emedies and S ection 7 (2) of PAJA 3 of 2000" (2000) 119 SALJ 50.

Plasket, C. "Protecting t he P ublic Purse: A ppropriate R elief a nd Costs O rders a gainst officials" (2000) 117 SALJ 153.

Rood, L. "Pay now, argue later" (13 August 2009) Finweek 44.

Asia Tax Committee "Pay now argue later" (April 2014) Tax Professional

Silke, J. "Taxpayers and the Constitution: A Battle already lost" (2002) Acta Juridica 282.

Silke, J. "Legitimate Expectations Law – Unfair to the Taxpayer or Fiscus?" (2004) 18 Tax Planning 40.

Van Dorsten, J.L. "The right to reasons f or d ecisions in t ax m atters" (October 2005) The Taxpayer 189.

Van Schalkwyk, L. "Constitutionality and the Income T ax A ct" (2001) 9 Meditari Accountancy Research 285.

Van Schalkwyk, L. "Constitutionality and the Income Tax Act-Revisited" (2004) 12 Meditari Accountancy Research 185.

Williams, R.C. "The D octrine of Legitimate E xpectations may p revent t he R evenue Authorities from reneging on an undertaking to a taxpayer" (2001) 118 SALJ 242.

Williams, R.C. "Reflections on s ome decisions in the light of the coming into force of the PAJA 2003" (2003) 24 (1) Obiter 51.

Williams, R.C. "Unresolved aspects of the "pay now argue later" rule (**January 2012**) PWC Synopsis 4.

Williams, R.C. "SARS & fair administrative action: Quo Vadis?" (**January 2013**) Tax Talk 24.

DISSERTATIONS & THESES

DISSERTATIONS

Dwyer, I. The Rights and Remedies of Taxpayers in the New South Africa (MComm, UKZN **2004**).

Keulder, C. Does the Constitution protect taxpayers against the mighty SARS? An inquiry into the constitutionality of selected practices and procedures, (LLM, UP **2011**).

Landman, A.A. An Administrative Law Inquiry into the legal nature of the assessment of normal tax, (LLM, Unisa 1985).

Schweitzer, A.G. 'Aspects of the Administrative Law Relationship between the Taxpayer and the Commissioner for Inland Revenue', (LLM, UCT **1991**).

Van Niekerk, A. Reviewing Administrative Action by SARS, the Commissioner and other delegated SARS Officials, (LLM, UP 2013).

THESES

Croome, B.J. Taxpayers' Rights in South Africa: An Analysis and Evaluation of the extent to which the Powers of the South African Revenue Service Comply with the Constitutional Rights to Property, Privacy, Administrative Justice, Access to Information and Access to Courts, (PhD, UCT 2008).

Dlamini, C.R.M. The Administrative Law of a Typical South African University, (LLD, UWC 1994).

Muller, E.A. Framework for Wealth Transfer Taxation in South Africa, (LLD, UP 2010).

CASE LAW

SOUTH AFRICA

A

Administrator Transvaal & Others v Traub & Others 1989 (4) SA 731(A).

Administrator Transvaal & Others v Zenzile & Others 1991 (1) SA 21 (A).

В

Barkhuizen v Napier [2007] ZACC 5.

Bastian Financial S ervices (Pty) v G eneral Hendrik S choeman P rimary S chool [2008] ZASCA 70.

Bato Star Fishing (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs & Others **2004** (4) SA 490 (CC).

Bernstein & Others v Bester & Others NNO 1996 (2) SA 751 (CC).

Besserlik v Minster of Trade, Industry & Tourism 1996 (4) SA 331 (CC).

Bhe & Others v Khayelitsha Magistrate & Others 2005 (1) SA 580 (CC).

Bruce & Another v Fleecytex Johannesburg CC & Others 1998 (2) SA 1143 (CC).

\mathbf{C}

Cabinet for the Territory of South West Africa v Chikane & Another 1989 (1) SA 349 (A).

Capstone 556 (Pty) Ltd v C SARS & A nother Kluh Investments (Pty) Ltd v C SARS & Another [2011] ZAWCHC 297.

Carephone (Pty) Ltd v Marcus NO & Others 1999 (3) SA 304 (LAC).

Carlson Investments Share Block (Pty) Ltd v CSARS 2001 (3) SA 210(W).

Carmichele v Minister of Safety & Security and Another 2001 (4) SA 938 (CC).

Certification of the Amended Text of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa **1997** (2) SA 97 (CC).

Chetty v Law Society Transvaal 1985 (2) SA 756(A).

Chancellor M asters and S cholars of the U niversity of O xford v C ommissioner for Inland Revenue [1995] ZASCA 157.

Christian Education South Africa v Minister of Education 1999 (2) SA 83 (CC).

CIR v Emary NO 1961 (2) SA 621 (A).

CIR v Friedman & Others NNO [1992] ZASCA 190.

CIR v Goodrick, 12 SATC 279.

CIR v Jacobson's Estate **1961** (3) SA 833 (A).

CIR v NCR Corporation of SA (Pty) Ltd 1988 (2) SA 765(A).

CIR v SA Mutual Unit Trust Management Co. Ltd 1990 (4) SA 529 (A).

CIR v Shell Southern African Pension Fund 1984 (1) SA 672 (A).

City of Cape Town v Bouley Properties (Pty) Ltd [2010] ZAWCHC 650.

Contract S upport S ervices (Pty) Ltd & O thers v C ommissioner f or the S outh A frican Revenue Services & Others 1999 (3) SA 1133 (W).

Commissioner of C ustoms and Excise v Container Logistics (Pty) Ltd; C ommissioner, Customs and Excise v Rennies Group Ltd t/a Reinfreight, **1999** (3) All SA 771 (SCA).

Commissioner of SAPS & Others v Maimela & Others 2003 (5) SA 480 (T).

Corpoclo 2290 CC t/a U-Care v Registrar of Banks (755/2011) [2012] ZASCA 156.

CSARS v Hawker Air Services (Pty) Ltd In R e: C SARS v H awker Aviation S ervices Partnership & Others **2005** (5) All SA 715 (T).

CSARS v Foodcorp Ltd [2000] ZASCA 179

CSARS v Hawker Air Services Air Services (Pty) Ltd 2006 (4) SA 292(SCA)

CSARS v Krok & Another [2014] ZAGPPHC 8

CSARS v Miles Plant Hire (Pty) Ltd (Reported decision - Case No **23533 / 2013** of the North Gauteng High Court. Judgment delivered on 03 October 2013 by A Van Niekerk AJ)

CSARS v Pretoria East Motors (Pty) Ltd [2014] ZASCA 91

CSARS v Sprigg Investment 117 CC t/a Global Investment [**2010**] ZASCA 172 CSARS v Van Der Merwe [**2014**] ZAWCHC 59

D

Dawood v Minister of Home Affairs; Shalabi v Minister of Home Affairs; Thomas v Minister of Home Affairs **2000** (3) 936 (CC)

Deacon v Controller of Customs and Excise 1999 (2) SA 905(SE)

D

Degussa Africa (Pty) Ltd & Another v International Trade Administration Commissioner & Others [2007] 69 SATC 146

Deutschmann Shelton v CSARS 2000 (6) SA BCLR 571

De Wet & Others v Western Bank Ltd 1979 (2) SA 1031(A)

Dunn v Minister of Defence & Others 2006 (2) SA 107 (T)

Du Plessis v De Klerk **1996** (3) SA 850 (CC)

Du Preez & Others v Truth and Reconciliation Commission 1997 (3) SA 204 (A)

 \mathbf{E}

Estate Smith v CIR **1960** (3) SA 375 (A)

Ex parte Minister for Safety and Security & Others In re: S v Walters and Another **2002** (4) SA 613 (CC)

Ex Parte Nell **1963** (1) SA 754 (A)

 \mathbf{F}

First N ational B ank of SA Ltd v Land and A gricultural B ank of SA; Sheard v Land and Agricultural Bank of SA Ltd **2000** (3) SA 626 (CC)

First National Bank of SA Ltd t/a Wesbank v CSARS & Another 2002 (4) SA 768 (CC)

Foes' v Minister of Safety & Security 1997 (3) SA 786 (CC)

Friedman v CIR: In re Phillip Frame Will Trust v CIR 1991 (2) SA 340 (W)

 \mathbf{G}

Gamevest (Pty) Ltd v Regional Claims Commissioner, Northern Province & Mpumalanga & Others **2003** (1) SA 373 (SCA)

Gardener v East London Transitional Local Council & Others 1996 (3) SA 99 (E)

Gcaba v Minister for Safety & Security & Others **2010** (1) SA 238 (CC)

Goldblatt & Others v Liebenberg & Another 71 SATC 189

Goldfields Ltd v Connell NO & Others [2005] 3 All SA 142 (W)

 \mathbf{G}

Goodman Bros (Pty) Ltd v Transnet Ltd 1998 (4) SA 989 (W)

Greys Marine Hout Bay (Pty) Ltd & Others v Minister of Public Works & Others 2004 (12) BCLR 1298 (C)

Greyvenstein v Kommissaris van die Suid Afrikaanse Inkomste Diens [2005] ZAGPHC 201

Н

Hathurani v CSARS [2011] ZAGPPHC 43

Hicklin v Secretary for Inland Revenue 24 SATC 705

High Stead Entertainment (Pty) Ltd t/a "The Club" v Minister of Law & Order **1994** (1) SA 387(C)

Hindry v Nedcor Bank Ltd & Another 1999 (2) All SA 38 (W)

Hira & Another v Booysen & Another **1992** (4) SA 69 (A)

Howick District Landowners Association v Umngeni Municipality 2007 (1) SA 206 (SCA)

Hunting Industries Ltd v Barclays Bank of Zimbabwe & Others 68 SATC 91

I

Industrial Manpower Projects (Pty) Ltd v Receiver of Revenue, Vereeniging & Others **2001** (2) SA 1026 (W)

Investigations Directorate: Serious Economic Offences v Hyundai Motor Distributors (Pty) Ltd: In re Hyundai Motor Distributors (Pty) Ltd v Smit NO & Another [2000] ZACC 12. Irvin & Johnson (SA) Ltd v CIR 1946 AD 483

ITC 788, **19 SATC 428**

ITC 1811 [2006] 68 SATC 193

ITC 1816 [**2007**] 69 SATC 62

ITC 1821 [2007] 69 SATC 194

J

Jaga v Donges NO & Another; Bhana v Donges NO & Another 1950 (4) SA 653 (A)

Janse van Rensburg NO & Another v Minister of Trade & Industry & Another NNO **2001** (1) SA 29 (CC)

Johannesburg Stock Exchange v Witwatersrand Nigel Ltd 1988 (3) SA 132 (A)

Justice Alliance of South Africa v President of the Republic of South Africa & Others **2011** (5) SA 388 (CC)

K

Kommissaris van Binnelandse Inkomste v Transvaal Suikerkorporasie Bpk **1985** (2) SA 668 (T)

KPMG Chartered Accountants (SA) v Securefin Ltd & Another 2009 (4) SA 399 (SCA)

Kruger v Commissioner for Inland Revenue **1966** (1) SA 457 (C)

Kruger v Sekretaris van Binnelandse Inkomste 1973 (1) SA 394 (A)

 \mathbf{L}

Langa CJ & Others v Hlophe **2009** (4) SA 382 (SCA)

Lesapo v North West Agricultural Bank & Another [1999] ZACC 16

 \mathbf{M}

Medox v CSARS [2014] ZAGPPHC 98

Metcash Trading Ltd v CSARS 2000 (2) SA 232 (W)

Metcash Trading Ltd v CSARS & Another **2001** 1 BCLR 1 (CC)

Meyer v Iscor Pension Fund **2003** (2) SA 38 (SCA)

Miller v CIR 1952 (1) SA 474 (A)

Minister of Environmental Affairs & Tourism v Phambili Fisheries (Pty) Ltd **2003** (6) SA 407 (SCA)

Minister of Health & McIntyre NO v New Clicks South Africa (Pty) Ltd & Others **2006** (2) SA 311 (CC)

\mathbf{M}

Minister of Health & Others v Treatment Action Campaign & Others 2002 (5) SA 721(CC)

Minister of Home Affairs & Another v Fourie 2006 (1) SA 524 (CC)

Mkontwana v Nelson Mandela Metropolitan Municipality 2005 (1) SA 530 (CC)

Modderfontein Squatters, Greater Benoni City Council v Modderklip Borders (Pty) Ltd **2004** (6) SA 40 (SCA)

Modibane v SARS [2011] ZAGPJHC 152

Mokoena v CSARS **2011**(2) SA 556 (GSJ)

Moletsane v Premier of the Free State & Another **1996** (2) SA 95 (0)

Momoniat v Minister of Law & Order & Others 1986 (2) SA 265 (W)

Motsepe v CIR **1997**(2) SA 897 (CC).

Mpande Foodliner CC v CSARS & Others **2004** (4) SA 1048 (T)

N

Natal Estates Ltd v Secretary for the Inland Revenue 1975 (4) SA 177 (A)

Natal Joint Municipal Pension Fund v Endumeni Municipality 2012 (4) SA 539 (SCA)

National Educare Forum v CSARS **2002** (3) SA 111 (TkH)

National Treasury & Others v Opposition to Urban Tolling Alliance & Others **2012** (6) SA 223 (CC)

Nkondo & Gumede v Minister of Law & Order 1986 (2) SA 756 (A)

0

Olitziki Property Holdings v The State Tender Board **2001**(3) SA 1247 (SCA)

P

PE Bosman Transport Committee & Others v Piet Bosman Transport (Pty) Ltd **1980** (4) SA 794(A)

Pestana v Nedbank Ltd 71 SATC 1

Pepkor Retirement Fund & Another v Financial Services Board 2003(6) SA 38 (SCA)

Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association of SA & Another: In re Ex Parte President of the Republic of South Africa **2000**(2) SA 674 (CC)

```
P
```

Premier Western Cape v Fair Cape Property Developers (Pty) Ltd 2003(6) SA 13 (SCA)

President of the Republic of South Africa v South African Rugby Football Union **2000** (1) SA 1 (CC)

R

Rean International S upply C ompany (Pty) Ltd & O thers v M pumalanga G aming B oard **1999**(8) BCLR 918 (T)

Reinecke v Incorporated General Insurance Ltd 1974 (2) SA 84 (A)

Reliance Land & Investment BC (Pty) Ltd v CIR 14 SATC 47

Rossi & Others v CSARS [2011] ZAGPJHC 16

Rudolph & Another v CIR & Others NNO **1994** (3) SA 771(W)

Rudolph & Another v CIR & Others **1996** (2) SA 886 (A)

Rudolph & Another v CIR & Others **1996** (4) SA 552 (CC)

Rudolph & Another v CIR & Others 1997 (4) SA 391 (SCA).

S

Sachs v Minister of Law & Order & Others 1934 AD 9

Sasol Oil (Pty) Ltd v CSARS [2012] ZAGPPHC 312

Sasol Oil (Pty) Ltd & Another v Metcalfe NO 2004 (5) SA 161 (W)

S v Bhulwana [1995] ZACC 11

S v Dlamini; S v Dladla & Others **1999** (4) SA 623 (CC)

S v Makwanyane & Another **1995** (3) SA 391 (CC)

S v Manamela **2000** (3) SA 1 (CC)

S v Roberts **1999** (4) SA 915 (SCA)

Semenya & Others v CCMA & Others (2006) 27 ILJ 1627 (LAC)

Setlogelo v Setlogelo 1914 AD 221

Scenematic Fourteen (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs Tourism & Another **2004** (4) BCLR 430 (C)

Shaikh v Standard Bank South Africa Ltd & Another 2008 (2) SA 622 (SCA)

Shelton v CSARS **2002** (3) SA 2002 (3) JTLR 94 (SCA)

Shell's Annandale Farm (Pty) Ltd v CSARS 2000 (3) SA 564 (C)

Shell Southern Africa Pension Fund v CIR 1982 (2) SA 541 (C)

Singh v CSARS **2003** (4) SA 520 (SCA)

Smartphone SP (Pty) Ltd v Absa Bank Ltd & Another 2004 (3) SA 65 (W)

Smith NO v Brummer NO & Another **1954** (3) SA 352(O)

South A frican A irways (Pty) Ltd v A viation Union of South A frica & Others **2011** (3) SA 148 (SCA)

South African Revenue Service & Another v Armsec Professional Services (Pty) Ltd [2004] 66 SATC 277

South African Rugby Football Union v CSARS [1999] 4 All SA 444 (A)

Stroud Riley & Co. Ltd v CIR **1974** (4) SA 534 (E)

Swissborough Diamond (Pty) Ltd & Others v Government of the Republic of South Africa & Others **1999**(2) SA 279 (T)

T

Thorne v Receiver of Revenue 1976 (2) SA 50 (C)

Traco Marketing (Pty) Ltd & Another v Minister of Finance & Another [1996] 58 SATC 195

Transnet Ltd v Sechaba Photoscan (Pty) Ltd 2005 (1) SA 299 (SCA)

Trend Finance (Pty) Ltd & Another v CSARS [2005] 67 SATC 334

TML Consultancy v CSARS [2012] ZATC 1

\mathbf{V}

Van Eck NO & Van Rensburg NO v Etna Stores 1947(2) SA 984 (A)

Van Wyk v Unitas Hospital & Another [2007] ZACC 24

Van Zyl v The Master **1991** (1) SA 874 (ECD)

Van Zyl NO v CIR **1997** (1) SA 883 (C)

\mathbf{W}

Webster v Mitchell **1948** (1) SA 1186 (W)

Western Cape High Court v City of Cape Town **2011**(6) SA 88 (WCC).

 \mathbf{X}

X v CSARS [2005] ZAGPHC 121

 \mathbf{Z}

Zondi v MEC for Traditional & Local Government Affairs 2005 (3) SA 589 (CC)

OTHER COUNTRIES

AUSTRALIA

Ansett Transport Industries (Operations) (Pty) Ltd & Another v W raith & Others (1983) 48 ALR 500

Re Palmer & Minister for the Capital Territory (1978) 23 ALR 196

Singh v The Common Wealth [2004] HCA 43

ZIMBABWE

Nyambirai v National Social Security Authority & Another 1996 (1) SA 636 (ZSC).

LEGISLATION

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 1996

Citation of Constitutional Laws Act 5 of 2005

Customs and Excise Act 91 of 1964

Customs and Excise Amendment Act 32 of 2014

Income Tax Act 58 of 1962

Interim Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 200 of 1993

High Court Act 59 of **1959**

Magistrates' Court Act 32 of 1944

Promotion of Access to Information Act 2 of 2000

Promotion of Administrative Justice Act 3 of 2000

Public Protector Act, 1994 (Act 23 of **1994**)

South African Revenue Service Act 34 of 1997.

South African Revenue Service Amendment Act 46 of 2002

Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011

Tax Administration Laws Amendment Act 39 of 2013

The Republic of South Africa Constitution Act 110 of 1983

Value Added Tax Act 89 of 1991

RULES & REGULATIONS

Rules R egulating t he Conduct of P roceedings i n t he C onstitutional C ourt *Government Gazette* No. 25726 of 31 October **2003**.

Rules Regulating the Conduct of Proceedings in the Magistrates' Court of South Africa
Uniform Rules of the High Court

WEBSITES

http://www.thesait.org.za/news/179545/Interpretation-of-the-Tax-Administration-Act-in-the-context-of-SARS-powers-to-recover-tax.htm (accessed on **14 August 2014**).

http://www.thesait.org.za/news/162204/Commissioner-SARS-v-Mark-Krok-HC-13192013-NG.htm (accessed on **14 August 2014**).

http://thesait.org.za/news/153854/Amendments-to-the-Tax-Administration-Act-2013.htm (accessed on **30 July 2014**).

https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2000/832-Promotion-of-Administrative-Justice-Act.htm (accessed on **02 April 2015**).

http://www.thesait.org.za/.../SARS---Fair-Administrative-Action-Quo-Vadis.htm (accessed on **02 April 2015**).

http://www.bericcroome.com/2014/08/the-Supreme-court-of-appeal-admonishes.htm (accessed on **02 April 2015**).

http://www.bowman.co.za/FileBrowser/ArticleDocumnets/Tax-Disputes%20and-Litigation%20Review (accessed on **02 April 2015**).

https://jutalaw.co.za/media/filestore/2013/06/SARS-Guide_-_Short-Guide-to-the-Tax-Administration-Act-2011 - External-Guide.pdf (accessed on **02 April 2014**).

http://repository.up.ac.za/bitstream/handle/2263/27418/dissertation.pdf?sequence=1&is Allowed=y (accessed on **02 April 2015**).

https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2003/1093-Constitutionality-current-approach-bySARS-with-reference-to-collection-of-taxes.htm (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2007/1501-Pay-now-argue-later-rule.htm (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

www.pkf.co.za/media.../sars-pay-now-argue-later-rule-relaxed.pdf (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

https://www.saica.co.za/News/NewsArticleandPressmediarelease/tabid/695/itemid/1867/lang uage/en-US/Default.aspx (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.polity.org.za/article/pay-now-argue-later-Sars-shed-some-light-for-the-taxpayers-benefit-2009-11-17 (accessed on **02 August 2014**).

https://www.thesait.org.za/news/143163/The-Commissioner-For-The-South-African-Revenue-Service v Miles-Plant-Hire-Pty-Ltd.htm (accessed on **14 August 2014**).

https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2007/1501-Pay-now-argue-later.htm (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC134426 (accessed on 03 April 2014).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC132122 (accessed on 03 April 2014).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC110267(accessed on **03 April 2014**).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC147512(accessed on 03 April 2014).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC78621 (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

http://reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC78722 (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

http://www.reference.sabinet.co.za/document/EJC146844 (accessed on 03 April 2014).

http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?=S1727-37812013000400005&script=sci-arttext (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=5b1ac8eb-7f27-408 (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=9830fe72-dd7e-418 (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.taxtalkblog.com/?p=8303 (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.thesait.org.za/news/153854/Amendments-to-the-Tax-Administration-Act-2013 (accessed on **05 September 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/new-tax-dispute-resolution-rules-brings-about-some-welcome-and-unwelcome-changes/ (accessed on **16 August 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/sars-must-not-bully-audited-taxpayers/ (accessed on **16 August 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/pay-now-argue-later/ (accessed on 16 August 2014).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/supreme-court-considers-administrative-fairness-in-tax-disputes/(accessed on **16 August 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/can-sars-just-say-prove-it/ (accessed on 16 August 2014).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/sars-must-give-proper-reasons-and-have-proper-grounds (accessed on **16 August 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/should-the-south-african-revenue-service-adopt-a-taxpayer-bill-of-rights/ (accessed on **16 August 2014**).

http://www.sataxguide.co.za/the-pay-now-argue-later-rule-festers-in-our-inco... (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

http://www.golegal.co.za/business/pay-now-argue-later (accessed on **02 August 2014**).

http://www.mybroadband.co.za/vb/content.php/2231-Law-clarifies-pay-now-argue-later-rule (accessed on **02 August 2014**).

http://www.taxtalkblog.com/%3Fp%3D10257(accessed on 30 July 2014).

http://www.thesait.org.za/.../Unresolved-aspects-of-the-pay-now-argue-later-ru (accessed **on 04 April 2014**).

http://www.nwu.ac.za/sites/www.nwu.ac.za/.../2013(16)4keuldersum.pdf (accessed on **03 April 2014**).

SARS PUBLICATIONS AND MANUALS

SARS Short Guide to the Tax Administration Act 28 of 2011 (5 June 2013).

SARS Rules Promulgated under Section 107A of the Income Tax Act, **1962**. (Act No. 58 of 1962) P rescribing the procedures to be observed in lodging objections and noting appeals against assessments, procedures for alternative dispute resolution and the conduct and hearing of appeals before a tax court (R. No. 467) (**1 April 2003**).

General 832. Promotion of Administrative Justice Act (October 2000)

General 1093. C onstitutionality and current approach by SARS with reference to collection of taxes (**June 2003**)

SARS Press Statement: Launch of the SARS Service Charter (19 October 2005)

General 1360. SARS finally releases the SARS Service Charter (December 2005) Issue 76

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

A / (AD) : Appellate Division

ALR : Australian Law Reports

CCMA : Commission for Conciliation Mediation and Arbitration

CIR : Commissioner for Inland Revenue

CSARS : Commissioner for the South African Revenue Service

CC : Constitutional Court

CEA : Customs and Excise Act

ITA : Income Tax Act
ITC : Income Tax Case

LAC : Labour Appeal Court

PAIA : Promotion of Access to Information Act
PAJA : Promotion of Administrative Justice Act

PELJ : Potchefstroom Electronic Law Journal

SALJ : South African Law Journal

SARS : South African Revenue Service

SARS Act : South African Revenue Service Act

SATC : South Africa: Tax Court
SCA : Supreme Court of Appeal

SIR : Secretary for the Inland Revenue

TAA : Tax Administration Act

TALAA : Tax Administration Laws Amendment Act

THRHR : Tydskrif vir die Hedendaagse Romeins – Hollandse Reg

TSAR : Tydskrif vir die Suid Afrikaanse Reg

VAT : Value Added Tax

VAT Act : Value Added Tax Act